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PREFACE

THE New Orleans City Guide has been compiled and edited by the work-
ers on the New Orleans division of the Federal Writers’ Project of Louisi-
ana, and is one of an extensive series of American guides being compiled
by the Federal Writers’ Project of the Works Progress Administration.
Its purpose is to present as complete a picture as possible of New Orleans
within the limits of a volume that is not too unwieldy. For generous
co-operation in supplying information, offering advice and suggestions,
and for other assistance during the preparation of this volume, grateful
acknowledgments are due to many persons and institutions, both public
and private. We are particularly indebted to the following four people
who have read and criticized the manuscript as a whole: the Reverend
Harold A. Gaudin, President of Loyola University; Mr. Robert Usher,
Librarian of the Howard Memorial Library, who in addition wrote the
paragraph on the founding of New Orleans which has been incorporated
in the French Quarter Tour; Mr. Richard Kirk of Tulane University;
and Mr. Hermann Deutsch of the New Orleans Item.

We are also indebted to a number of people who read and criticized
parts of the manuscript dealing with their own special fields, including
Mr. Nathaniel Curtis and Mr. Moise Goldstein — Architecture; and Mr.
Stanley Clisby Arthur — French Quarter Tour.

We are likewise indebted to the libraries, museums, and newspaper
offices of the city and to the Association of Commerce for their con-
sistent co-operation. Other acknowledgments are made in the text and
in the bibliography.

We are indebted for certain of the photographs to the New Orleans
Association of Commerce, the T'imes-Picayune, and the Historic Amer-
ican Buildings Survey. Most of the photographs, however, and all of
the drawings are the work of staff artists and photographers.

Although few cross-references have been used in the text, the detailed
index should make it simple for the reader to find whatever he is looking
for.

LvyrE SAxoN, State Director
EpwArD P. DREVER, Assisiant State Director
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NEW ORLEANS —OLD AND NEW

HAVE you ever been in New Orleans? If not you’d better go.
It’s a nation of a queer place; day and night a show!
Frenchmen, Spaniards, West Indians, Creoles, Mustees,
Yankees, Kentuckians, Tennesseans, lawyers and trustees,

* * * * * * * * * * *

Negroes in purple and fine linen, and slaves in rags and chains.
Ships, arks, steamboats, robbers, pirates, alligators,

Assassins, gamblers, drunkards, and cotton speculators;
Sailors, soldiers, pretty girls, and ugly fortune-tellers;

Pimps, imps, shrimps, and all sorts of dirty fellows;

* * * * * * * * * * *

A progeny of all colors — an infernal motley crew;
Yellow fever in February — muddy streets all the year;
Many things to hope for, and a devilish sight to fear!
Gold and silver bullion — United States bank notes,
Horse-racers, cock-fighters, and beggars without coats,
Snapping-turtles, sugar, sugar-houses, water-snakes,
Molasses, flour, whiskey, tobacco, corn and johnny-cakes,
Beef, cattle, hogs, pork, turkeys, Kentucky rifles,
Lumber, boards, apples, cotton, and many other trifles.
Butter, cheese, onions, wild beasts in wooden cages,
Barbers, waiters, draymen, with the highest sort of wages.

THIS was written more than a hundred years ago, when New Orleans
had already passed its first century mark, by one Colonel Creecy, a
man of parts and of gusto. New Orleans today, with a population of
nearly half a million, the largest city south of the Mason-Dixon line,
and one of the largest ports in the United States, is remembered with
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pleasure by countless travelers who have taken the colonel’s advice.
Alligators, to be sure, are now seldom encountered outside of curio
stores; but cotton speculators are still at large. Sailors and pretty girls,
horse-racers and cock-fighters are always with us, to say nothing of the
pimps and the imps and the shrimps. And there are the Mardi Gras,
the French Quarter, the cemeteries above ground, the river, the lake,
the food, and the drinks.

Traditionally the city that care forgot, New Orleans is, perhaps, best
known for its liberal attitude toward human frailties, its ‘Live and Let
Live’ policy. To the tourist the city is first of all a place in which to
eat, drink, and be merry. Generations of gourmands and tipplers have
waxed fat on gumbo and bouillabaisse and pompano, and gay on gin
fizzes and absinthe drips and Sazerac cocktails; many of them, Thackeray
and Mark Twain included, have communicated their appreciation of the
‘American Paris’ to the world. Generations of revelers have gone their
joyous way through Carnival Season to Mardi Gras, that maddest of
all mad days when every man may be a king, or, if he prefers, a tramp or
a clown or an Indian chief, and dance in the streets. Generations of
dandies and sports and adventurers have, with their ‘ladies,” played
fast and loose in the gambling-houses and ‘sporting’ houses of the ‘ Ameri-
can Marseilles.” Ever since the middle of the eighteenth century, when
the Marquis de Vaudreuil attempted to set up in Nouvelle Orléans a
miniature Versailles, a reputation for gaiety and abandon has persisted.
These, then, the joys of the flesh, the traveler first remembers.

But there are other memories in that strange jumble of recollections
which the visitor to New Orleans takes away. For New Orleans is like-
wise a pious and virtuous city. For a hundred years Catholicism was the
religion commanded by law, and the Catholic Church still controls the
largest congregation in the city, adding, with its processions and feasts
and rituals, color to the lives of even non-Catholics. Other religious de-
nominations have, of course, long since established strong followings.
New Orleans today is a city of much faith and of many faiths, where
people still pray and where the personal columns of the newspapers give
daily evidence that prayers are still answered.

And then there is the French Quarter, that Vieux Carré or ‘Old Square’
which lies below Canal Street and along the Mississippi River. Once
the walled city of Nouvelle Orléans, it remains today one of the most
interesting spots in the United States.

Here one finds the narrow streets with overhanging balconies, the
beautiful wrought-iron and cast-iron railings, the great barred doors and
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tropical courtyards. Many of these fine houses are more than a century
and a quarter old, and they stand today as monuments to their forgotten
architects. For it must be remembered that New Orleans was a Latin
city already a century old before it became a part of the United States;
and it was as unlike the American cities along the Atlantic seaboard as
though Louisiana were on another continent. Louisiana was closely allied
to France and Spain, and had almost nothing to do with the American
Revolution; it became a part of the United States through purchase.
Even today New Orleans — American city though it is — still retains a
definite Latin quality.

Dividing the older downtown section of the city from the uptown or
American section lies Canal Street, a magnificent thoroughfare, one of
the widest streets in the United States, and reputed to be one of the
four best-lighted streets in the world. In winter it is full of the usual
urban bustle of the American city, but in summer, when life becomes
slow and lazy, Canal Street at night presents a charming picture. It is
rather like a slow-motion moving picture as white-clad men and women
stroll along the brightly lighted thoroughfare, stopping to imbibe the
ever-popular iced drinks, then continuing the evening promenade.

Going uptown (or south) from Canal Street, one reaches the Garden
District, bounded by St. Charles, Jackson, and Louisiana Avenues and by
Magazine Street. Built nearly a hundred years ago, it is a beautiful
section today, recalling an earlier, happier, and more leisurely period.
Here stand large, handsome houses built by the first Americans who came
to Louisiana after the Purchase in 1803. The houses are set deep in
gardens; there are broad verandas (called ‘galleries’ in Louisiana) and
the large white columns of the Greek Revival. There are graceful cast-
iron railings, white doorways bright through vines and palm trees, and
high brick walls enclosing gardens which blossom with magnolias, crépe-
myrtles, oleanders, azaleas, and gardenias. There is scarcely a day in the
year when flowers cannot be seen.

Continuing uptown beyond the Garden District, we find more broad
avenues lined with great trees and well-kept lawns and gardens. This
section extends for miles. St. Charles Avenue is the main thoroughfare,
and the adjoining streets are filled with pleasing houses and gardens.
The residential district is full of charm. Even the humbler homes have
flowers and well-kept hedges; and there are large and beautiful parks.
New Orleans is a city that lives outdoors in summertime.

St. Charles Avenue eventually reaches Carrollton Avenue, and this
neighborhood was once the separately incorporated town of Carrollton.
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Near the river-front above Canal Street is the old American business
section, in some ways very much like the French Quarter, which lies be-
low Canal Street. Nowadays it is given over to wholesale dealers near
Canal Street, and to a poor neighborhood as one goes farther uptown.
This section is known today as ‘ The Irish Channel’ because of the numbers.
of Irish families who once lived there. It bears the reputation of being
‘tough,’ but it is probably no tougher than other localities lying along the
docks.

The visitor to New Orleans is always interested in the Port and in the
docks, which extend for fourteen miles along the river. Here are vessels
which sail the Seven Seas, and flags of all nations flutter at the mast-
heads. Ferries cross and recross the Mississippi, which is approximately
a half mile wide at New Orleans. Sea gulls follow the ships, searching for
food, and make the visitor realize that the Gulf of Mexico is not far
away.

The wharves are divided into sections, each with its particular use;
there are grain wharves, cotton sheds, and, most interesting to the visitor,
the wharves where the great green bunches of bananas are transported from
ships to freight cars. When a banana ship is in port, the wharf presents
a scene of great activity; hundreds of laborers carry the fruit to the wait-
ing cars. Old Negro women, fat and wearing snowy turbans on their
heads, move about in the crowd selling sandwiches and sweet cakes.
Those who taste their wares find the dainties both appetizing and tooth-
some. All day long the groaning conveyors lift bunches of bananas from
the hold of the ship, and all day long the men continue to move in a line
carrying them. Darkness falls and the lights flash on; there are long
swaying shadows, and the fruit is doubly green in the artificial light.
The hours pass by and the men continue at their labor. Then there is a
shout and the great conveyors stop. The ship is empty. The line breaks,
the men scatter, forming another line before the paymaster.

The coffee docks, the cotton docks, and the molasses sheds all present
interesting scenes of activity during the working day. But as a rule it is
only the banana wharf which presents an interesting activity in the
evening.

Across the river from the foot of Canal Street lies Algiers, a part of
New Orleans, but connected directly with it by ferry traffic only, and
preserving to a considerable extent the atmosphere of a small Louisiana
town. Gretna, Harvey, Marrero, and Westwego are other towns which
line the river above Algiers and are likewise reached by ferries. Nine
miles above the city the Huey P. Long Bridge, the twenty-ninth and one
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of the finest spans across the Mississippi, gives New Orleans an unbroken
highway to the west.

Toward the northern boundary of the city lie the suburban districts
— Gentilly and Metairie —and beyond them is Lake Pontchartrain,
which plays an important part in the social life of New Orleans in the
summer. One of the largest lakes in the country, its water is somewhat
salty, as it connects with Lake Borgne, which, in turn, connects with the
Gulf of Mexico. Here the city has erected a sea wall for protection from
the high waves of tropical storms; and here, off the wall from West
End to the Industrial Canal, the people of New Orleans swim. On Sun-
days and holidays many thousands spend the day at the lake. There are
also amusement parks, restaurants, and open squares with palms and
flowers. In addition to the lake shore, there are Audubon and City Parks,
each equally lovely and well kept, and each provided with large swimming
pools, tennis courts, and golf links. A pleasant feature is night swimming
and tennis, as pools and courts alike are illuminated. At present (1937),
both parks and the lake shore are being beautified by the Federal
Government through Works Progress Administration projects.

Throughout a tour of the city one cannot fail to be impressed by streets
whose names are derived from saints, soldiers, authors, and astronomers,
from classical mythology and Indian legend, from fish and fowl, and from
the heavenly bodies. And should the visitor be too startled by Calliope’s
journey from Jefferson Davis past the Spanish Governors, Miro and
Galvez, and eventually to Tchoupitoulas, or by St. Claude’s meeting
first with Piety and then with Desire, or too puzzled by words such as
Creole, lagniappe, and banquette, a brief account of street names as well
as a glossary of unusual words and phrases in constant use in New Or-
leans has been added at the back of the book.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Railroad Stations: Union Station, roor S. Rampart St., for Gulf Coast
Lines, Ilinois Central, Southern Pacific,and Yazoo and Mississippi Valley;
Terminal Station, 1125 Canal St., for Gulf Mobile, and Northern and
Southern Railway; 701 South Rampart St. for Louisiana and Arkansas;
foot of Canal St. for Louisville and Nashville; 1125 Annunciation St. for
Missouri Pacific and Texas and Pacific.

Steamship Piers: Poydras St. for Delta Line; Galvez St. for Luckenbach
Line; Louisa St. for Standard Fruit; Thalia St. for United Fruit. Bien-
ville St. for Morgan Line (Southern Pacific).

Bus Stations: 1520 Canal St. for Teche-Greyhound Lines; 207 St. Charles
St. for Missouri Pacific Trailways.

Airport: Shushan Airport, 9 miles from city on Lake Pontchartrain;
Eastern Air Lines and Chicago and Southern Air Lines; 20 minutes from
Canal St. Taxi, $1.50 per passenger each way.

Ferries: Canal St. Ferry to Bouny St., Algiers; Jackson Avenue Ferry to
Huey P. Long Ave. (Copernicus St.), Gretna; Louisiana Ave. Ferry to
Destrehan Ave., Harvey; Napoleon Ave. Ferry to Barataria Road,
Marrero; Walnut St. Ferry to Westwego. All except Louisiana Ave.
Ferry give 24-hour service.

Excursions: River excursion steamer, leaving from the foot of Canal
St., makes day and night harbor trips from October to May. Several
weekly excursions via Harvey Canal are made to Grand Isle. For in-
formation and schedules consult Grand Isle Chamber of Commerce,
Carondelet Building.

Taxis: Fare 40¢ (1 or 5 passengers) within city zone (roughly the metro-
politan area west of the Inner-Harbor Navigation Canal), with pro-
portionate increase beyond. Have understanding with taxi-driver before
making out-of-zone trips.


http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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Street-cars: Trolleys and motor-busses serve all sections of the city. Fare
7¢ with universal transfer. All lines except Napoleon Ave. start at Canal
St.

Traffic Regulations: Care must be taken to observe the signal lights and
direction signs at street intersections. These signs are either in center of
street or on sidewalk. Many one-way streets, indicated by arrow signs
at every intersection, will be encountered throughout the city; all cross-
streets between Decatur and Rampart on Canal are one-way streets.
Watch for ‘No Left Turn’ signs. When left turn is permitted in business
sections, get into traffic lane on extreme left and turn on red light.
‘Stop,” ‘slow,” and red arrow signs at dangerous corners must be obeyed
under penalty of arrest. Persons under 16 years of age not allowed to
drive. Secure a visitor’s permit, without cost, from the License Examiner
before 12 o’clock noon of the day following arrival; good for 3o days.
For parking consult signs or traffic officer.

Street Order and Numbering: Streets are numbered uptown and downtown
(north and south) from Canal Street, beginning with 100. Corners and
sides of streets are described as uptown or downtown (upriver or down-
river) and as river or lake (woods). Streets running from river to lake are
numbered away from the river. Even numbers are on river and uptown
side of street, and odd numbers on lake and downtown side. Note that
streets crossing Canal between North and South Peters and North and
South Rampart have different names on opposite sides of Canal St.

Accommodations: Hotels and boarding-house rates vary according to
season and occasion. Accommodations in private homes are obtainable
during Mardi Gras and Mid-Winter Sports Carnival. Tourist and trailer
camps are located on US 90 and 61. Consult Association of Commerce,
or daily newspaper bureau. (See Hotels and Restaurants.)

Information Service: Association of Commerce and all leading hotels and
newspaper offices.

Theaters and Motion-Picture Houses: Twelve motion-picture theaters
(some admitting Negroes) in business section, including one exclusively
for Negroes; occasional road shows; concerts, ballets, and operas at
Municipal Auditorium.

Concert Halls: Municipal Auditorium, Jerusalem (Shriners’) Temple, and
Dixon Hall (Newcomb College). Concerts, plays, etc., are also held at
school auditoriums such as McMain High School and Rabouin Trade
School.

Sports and Recreation: See Recreational Facilities, Amateur Sports Events,
and Professional Sports Events.




CHURCH GUIDE

Adventist

Seventh Day Adventist, 1500 Camp St.
Seventh Day (Negro), 2412 Delachaise St.

American Old Catholic
American Old Catholic, St. John Chapel, 3151 Dauphine St.

Assembly of God

First Assembly of God, 1033 Friscoville Ave.
Spain Street, 1017 Spain St.

Baptist
Calvary, 8o2 Olivier St., Algiers
Canal Boulevard, 5324 Canal Blvd.
Carrollton Avenue, 2428 Carrollton Ave.
Central, 129 S. Jefferson Davis Pkwy.
Coliseum Place, 1376 Camp St.
Emmanuel, 1017 N. Dorgenois St.
First, 3436 St. Charles Ave.
First, Opelousas Ave. and Seguin St., Algiers
Franklin Avenue, 2515 Franklin Ave.
Gentilly, 5141 Franklin Ave.
Grace, N. Rampart and Alvar Sts.
Lakeview, West End Blvd. and Polk Ave.
Napoleon Avenue, Napoleon and S. Claiborne Aves.
St. Charles Avenue, 7100 St. Charles Ave.
Valence Street, 4626 Magazine St.
Zion Travelers’ (Negro), 404 Adams St.

Catholic
All Saints, 1419 Teche St., Algiers
Annunciation, 1221 Mandeville St.
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Corpus Christi (Negro), 2020 St. Bernard Ave.
Holy Ghost (Negro), 2001 Louisiana Ave.

Holy Name of Mary, 418 Verret St., Algiers

Holy Name of Jesus, 6363 St. Charles Ave.

Holy Redeemer (Negro), 2122 Royal St.

Holy Trinity, 725 St. Ferdinand St.

Immaculate Conception (Jesuits’ Church), 132 Baronne St.
Incarnate Word, 8316 Apricot St.

Mater Dolorosa, 1226 S. Carrollton Ave.

Our Lady of Good Counsel, 1307 Louisiana Ave.
Our Lady of Guadalupe, 1101 Conti St.

Our Lady of Holy Rosary, 3368 Esplanade Ave.
Our Lady of Lourdes, 2406 Napoleon Ave.

Our Lady of Sacred Heart, 1728 St. Bernard Ave.
Our Lady Star of the Sea, 1901 St. Roch Ave.

Our Mother of Perpetual Help Chapel, 2523 Prytania St.
Sacred Heart of Jesus, 3226 Canal St.

St. Alphonsus, 2043 Constance St.

St. Ann’s, 2125 Ursuline Ave.

St. Anthony of Padua, 4630 Canal St.

St. Augustine’s, 1210 Gov. Nicholls St.

St. Cecilia’s, 4219 N. Rampart St.

St. Dominic’s, 224 Harrison Ave.

St. Francis de Sales, 2209 Second St.

St. Francis of Assisi, 631 State St.

St. Henry’s, 812 General Pershing St.

St. James Major, Lotus nr. Gentilly Blvd.

St. Joan of Arc (Negro), 919 Cambronne St.

St. John the Baptist, 1139 Dryades St.

St. Joseph, 1810 Tulane Ave.

St. Katherine (Negro), 1509 Tulane Ave.

St. Leo the Great, 2916 Paris Ave.

St. Louis Cathedral, Chartres St. bet. St. Peter and St. Ann Sts.
St. Mary of the Angels, N. Miro and Congress Sts.
St. Mary’s Assumption, Josephine bet. Constance and Laurel Sts.
St. Mary’s Italian, 1114 Chartres St.

St. Matthias, 4224 S. Broad St.

St. Maurice, 605 St. Maurice Ave.

St. Michael’s, 1526 Chippewa St.

St. Patrick’s, 716 Camp St.

St. Peter Claver (Negro), 1919 St. Philip St.

St. Peter and St. Paul, 2317 Burgundy St.

St. Rita’s, 2620 Pine St.

St. Rose of Lima, 2541 Bayou Rd.

St. Stephen’s, 1007 Napoleon Ave.

St. Theresa Little Flower of Jesus, goo2 Quince St.
St. Theresa, 1109 Coliseum St.

St. Vincent de Paul, 3049 Dauphine St.
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Christian Science
First, 1436 Nashville Ave.
Second, 630 Common St.
Third, 2333 Fern St.

Church of Christ
First, 2919 Camp St.

Church of God
First, 4967 DeMontluzin St.

Church of the Nazarene
Church of the Nazarene, 8518 Oak St.

Congregational Church
University (Negro), 2420 Canal St.

Disciples of Christ

Carrollton Ave. Christian, 4540 Carrollton Ave.
St. Charles Ave. Christian, 6200 St. Charles Ave.

Episcopal
Christ Church Cathedral, 2919 St. Charles Ave.
Church of the Annunciation, 4515 S. Claiborne Ave.
Church of the Holy Comforter, 4481 DeMontluzin St.
Grace, 1501 Canal St.
Mount Olivet, 530 Pelican Ave., Algiers
St. Andrew’s, 8021 Zimple St., cor. Carrollton Ave.
St. Anna’s, 1313 Esplanade Ave.
St. George’s, 4600 St. Charles Ave.
St. John’s, 8oo Third St.
St. Paul’s, 1127 Gaiennie St.
St. Philip’s, Henry Clay Ave. and Chestnut St.
Trinity, 1329 Jackson Ave,

Evangelical
Bethany, 3712 S. Broad St.
Bethel, 2205 Franklin Ave.
First, 1829 Carondelet St.
Jackson Avenue, 705 Jackson Ave.
St. John, 8439 Belfast St.
St. Matthew’s, S. Carrollton Ave., cor. Willow St.
St. Paul’s, 5901 Patton St.
Salem, 930 Milan St.
Trinity Evangelical, 4439 Canal St.
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HOTEL AND OTHER ACCOMMODATIONS

ALTHOUGH New Orleans normally possesses ample hotel and other
facilities for the many thousands who come yearly to enjoy its mild cli-
mate, romantic atmosphere, Mid-Winter Sports Carnival, and world-
famed Mardi Gras, to prevent possible inconvenience or disappointment
it is suggested that visitors write or wire in advance for accommodations
desired, especially during the winter months.

Hotels

DeSoto Hotel, 420 Baronne St.; 226 rooms — all with hot and cold running
water, and 175 with private bath; rates $1.50 up, European plan; garage
50¢ extra; convention hall, writing-room, restaurant (lunch 60¢, dinner
$1), coffee shop, and bar.

Jung Hotel, 1500 Canal St.; 700 rooms, all with private bath, running
ice water, ceiling fans, servidor, and outside exposure; rates $3-$4,
European plan; parking lot 15¢ extra; roof garden, three convention halls,
dining-room, coffee shop, bar, Turkish baths, barber shop, and beauty
parlor.

Lafayette Hotel, 628 St. Charles St.; 80 rooms, all with running water
and ceiling fans — 55 with private baths; rates, $1.75 up, European
plan; garage 50¢ extra.

LaSalle Hotel, 1113 Canal St.; 100 rooms — 70 with ceiling fans, and 50
with private bath; rates, $1.25-$2.50, European plan; garage 50¢ extra.

Monteleone Hotel, 214 Royal St.; 600 rooms — 540 have radios, 500 have
private baths, and all have hot and cold running water and ceiling fans;
rates $1.50-$3.50. European plan; garage 50¢, parking lot 15¢; conven-
tion hall, dining-room, coffee shop, bar, and beauty parlor.

New Orleans Hotel, 1300 Canal St.; 275 rooms, all with private bath and
ceiling fan; rates $3 up, European plan; garage 50¢ extra; convention
hall, air-conditioned dining-room and coffee shop, writing-room, and
barber shop.

Roosevelt Hotel, 123 Baronne St.; 700 rooms, 400 air-conditioned; rates
$3.50 up. European plan; garage 50¢ extra; convention halls, dining-
rooms, coffee shop, bar, cocktail lounge, beauty parlor, Turkish baths,
CES
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Senator Hotel, 208 Dauphine St.; 115 rooms — 68 with private baths;
rates $1 up.

St. Charles Hotel, 211 St. Charles St.; 600 rooms with hot and cold water,
and radio — all with private bath; rates $3 up; European plan; dining-
room, bar, barber shop, beauty parlor, writing-rooms, etc.

Apartment Hotels
Carol Hotel, 3628 St. Charles Ave. (St. Charles car from Canal and
Baronne Sts.), thirty-six blocks from Canal; 42 rooms, each with private
bath and ceiling fan; rates by the day $1.50 up, lower by week or month,
a la carte or table d’héte dining-room service.
Ponichartrain Apartment Hotel, 2031 St. Charles Ave. (St. Charles car
from Canal and Baronne Sts.); 80 efficiency apartments in four sizes, all
with private baths; rates $3 per day up, $85 per month up; garage
50¢ day, weekly and monthly rates available.

YM.CA. and YW.CA.

Y.M.C.A., 936 St. Charles Ave. (Lee Circle); 40 rooms for local and
visiting members only. Central floor bath; recreational facilities avail-
able.

Y.W.C.A., 929 Gravier St.; accommodations for 53 — private rooms,
double rooms, and dormitories (4 beds); central baths, coffee shop, recrea-
tional facilities; rates 75¢, $1, and $1.50; weekly and monthly rates
available.

Tourist Camps

A number of tourist camps are located on US 90, 61, and 65; rates $1
per day up.

Accommodations for Negroes
Page Hotel, 1038 Dryades St.; 15 rooms all with hot and cold shower
baths, running ice water; rates 75¢ to $1.50, European plan; no extra
charge for auto parking and telephone.
Paiterson Hotel, 761 S. Rampart St.; 26 rooms, all with baths; rates 75¢
to $1.50.
Y.M.C.A., 2220 Dryades St. (Freret car from Canal and St. Charles
Sts.); room list available; transients placed in private homes.
Y.W.C.A., 2436 Canal St. (Cemeteries or West End car from any place
on Canal St.); accommodations for 36 transients; central bath; meals
served on request; rates $1.50 week up.

Additional Information

There are many other small hotels, tourist camps, tourist homes, and
boarding-houses which may be found listed in the telephone directory, or
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easily identified while driving about the city by the signs displayed.
St. Charles Avenue above Poydras Street as far up as Jackson Avenue is
lined with small hotels and rooming houses, as.likewise are Canal from
Claiborne to Broad, Esplanade from the river to North Galvez, and
Royal from Ursuline to Canal. Mention is made of these particular
streets largely because of their accessibility and profuse accommodations;
however, there are many other thoroughfares upon which such facilities
may be found.
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NIGHT LIFE

NEW ORLEANS, traditionally the ‘city that care forgot,” offers to
lovers of night life an unusual and varied number of night clubs and
bars, ranging from the more expensive ones in the better hotels, to the
‘Harlem’ clubs and honky-tonks of the less select sections of the city.
There is to be found entertainment to suit every taste, with a corre-
sponding range of rates.

At the arrival of dawn, disciples of the night turn to the French Market,
where society matrons and truck-drivers sit on stools and drink coffee
in friendly proximity. Another well-known place for ending the evening
is the all-night ‘poor boy’ stand of the Martin Brothers (2004 St. Claude
Ave.), where appetites otherwise insatiable can be appeased for ten cents.

In New Orleans, as elsewhere, clubs and bars move, change names, go
out of business, or, from time to time, are closed by the police. This
is particularly true of the ‘hotter of the hot spots.” The places listed
below are those at present in operation (autumn, 1937). For later de-
velopments, ask the cab-driver. Telephone for reservations and infor-
mation concerning minimum and cover charges.

Clubs and Bars on or Above Canal Street
The Blue Room, a night club and cocktail lounge, is located on the
first floor of the Roosevelt Hotel (122 Baronne St.). It offers, by way of
entertainment in its nightly floor show, dance numbers by nationally
known teams. Syncopated music is furnished by such orchestras as those
of Phii Harris, Smith Ballew, and Frankie Masters. The Blue Room is
frequently redecorated. Here may be found a circular bar, whose pride
is the ‘Ramos Gin Fizz’ made from the original recipe of the famous
Ramos Bar. Dinner is served from 6 to 9 p.M.; music is furnished by the
same orchestra which plays for the dancing from 10 p.M.. to 2 AM.
Cocktail hours are from 2.30 to 5.30 on Saturday and Sunday afternoons.

Crescent Billiard Hall, 117 St. Charles St. (second floor), was one of the

first billiard halls opened in New Orleans. In addition to pool and billiard
rooms, cocktail lounge, and bar, there is a room devoted to games.
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Halson Cocktail Lounge, in the Pontchartrain Apartment Hotel at 2031
St. Charles Ave., is open to the public from 11.30 A.m. until 12.30 A.m.
In addition to stronger drinks, light refreshments are served. Cocktail
hours are from 4 p.:M. to 9 P.u.

Roosevelt Bar, one of the better-class bars of the city, isa rendezvous in the
Roosevelt Hotel. Here, as in the Blue Room, the specialty is the ‘Ramos
Gin Fizz’; all of the nationally known drinks as well as southern favorites
are available. The doors are open from 8.30 A.M. to 2 A.M. customarily,
though during the Mardi Gras season the bar remains open all night.

St. Charles Bar (St. Charles Hotel), 211 St. Charles St., is classed among
the oldest and best-known bars in the city. A wide variety of drinks is
served, especial pride being taken in its ‘Planter’s Punch’ and ‘Old
Fashioned’ cocktail. Cocktail hours, at which there is music, are from
4.30 to 7 .M. and from 9.30 until midnight. The bar is open from 7 A.m.
to 12.30 A.M.; during the Carnival season it remains open all night.

St. Germain Cocktail Lounge, 1753 St. Charles Ave., is open from 1 p.M.
until ‘the last customer leaves.” Bridge groups and parties are especially
catered to.

Sazerac Bar, 300 Carondelet St., is the only bar in the city where the
famous ‘Sazerac Cocktail’ is mixed from a famous recipe. The doors
are open from 8 A.M. until 9 p.M. Ladies are served only one day a year
— Mardi Gras.

French Quarter Clubs and Bars

Absinthe House Bar, 400 Bourbon St., has the original marble-topped bar
formerly housed at 238 Bourbon St. (the old Absinthe House) which at one
time was famous for its absinthe frappé. The bar is open from 6 A.M. to
3 AM.

Club Plantation, 942 Conti St., is open from 10 P.M. to 5 A.M. An orchestra
furnishes music for dancing, and floor shows are presented at 2 and at
4 Am. The club was formerly operated by Pete Herman, blind ex-
bantamweight champion (1922); the specialty is ‘Planter’s Punch.’

Dog House, 300 North Rampart St., is open from 9 p.M. until 4 A
Both jazz orchestra and floor show are colored, and three performances
are given nightly, 11 p.m., 1.30 and 3 Am. ‘A high-class place,’ says the
proprietor, ‘for middle class people, and one where they can have freedom °
of body and soul.” The taxi girls bring their lunch.

La Lune, 80oo Bourbon St., is one of the more popular spots of the French
Quarter. The establishment is conducted in Mexican style, with Don
Ramon and his orchestra furnishing music for dancing. Excellent Mexi-
can dinners are served and tequila may be had. The club is open from
9r.M. to 6 AM.

Monteleone Hotel Bar, located in the Monteleone Hotel at 214 Royal St.,
serves sandwiches and drinks. The specialty is the ‘ Vieux Carré Cocktail.’
The bar is open from 7 A.M. until midnight.



Night Life XXXIX

New Silver Slipper, 426 Bourbon St., has three floor shows nightly —
11.30 p.M., 1.30 and 3 A.M.

Nut Club (Café de L’'Opéra), 507 Bourbon St., open from 10 .M. until
5 A.M., presents floor shows nightly at 1 and 3 A.M. Music is furnished
by the ‘Nut Club Ensemble,” and dinner is served from 5 to 10 p.u.

Original Absinthe House, 238 Bourbon St.; was erected in 1798, and has
served as a place of revelry almost continuously ever since. The doors are
open from 9 p.M. until 4 A.M. There are two floor shows nightly, 12.30
and 3 A.M.

Pat O’Brien’s, 638 St. Peter St., is at present one of the most popular of
the small bars of the Quarter and on Saturday and holiday nights is apt
to overflow with tipplers of every description.

Prima’s Shim Sham Club, 229 Bourbon St., is open during the winter
months from 10 P.M. to 5 A.M. There are three floor shows nightly,
11.30 p.M., 1.30 and 3.30 At

Sloppy Jim’s is located at 236 Royal St., just below the Monteleone
Hotel. The specialty here is the ‘Sloppy Jim Cocktail.” A wide variety of
other drinks is served. The bar is open from 9 A.M. until 12 p.M.

Also in the Vieux Carré, amid the somewhat distinctive atmosphere and
odors of the French Market, are several Decatur Street ‘hot spots’
whose names are perhaps indicative of the type of entertainment to be
found. One is greeted by such names as the King Fish, where ‘Ya Man’
and his colored orchestra produce sizzling jazz, the Silver Moon, Guestella’s,
and Rudy’s, the former names of which were Popeye’s, the Rose Bowl,
and Mama’s Place, respectively. At these places the floor shows are
marked by the utmost abandon, to say the least. The performers range
in color from a ‘high yaller’ to ebony. Floor shows are at 11.30 par.,
1.30 and 3 A.M.

Suburban Night Clubs

Chez Paree, 8502 Pontchartrain Blvd., is one of the best of the suburban
clubs. Music is furnished by a local orchestra, and floor shows are pre-
sented at midnight and at 2 A

Cotton Club, 2935 Jefferson Highway, is open from 10 p.M. to 3 A.M.
Entertainment is furnished by a local orchestra and there are two floor
shows nightly, 12.30 and 2.30 A.M.

Pirates’ Den, Avenue A and 38th St. (near Pontchartrain Blvd.), serves
drinks and sandwiches. The place remains open at night as long as the
crowd lingers; the bar is open all day.

Prima’s Penthouse, West End, especially popular during the summer be-

cause of its proximity to Lake Pontchartrain, is open from 10 p.uM. until
2 aM.

Gambling

Beyond the city limits in the adjacent parishes of Jefferson and St.
Bernard are several large and elaborately appointed gambling-houses:
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the Old Southport and the Original Southport in Jefferson Parish (taxi
40¢ within a half block of either place), and the Jai Alai, Arabi Club,
and Riverview in St. Bernard Parish (taxi 75¢). All may be reached by
street-car. Although gambling is, strictly speaking, illegal, these places are
usually open for business from dusk to dawn.

Pleasure Boats
There is nightly dancing on Mississippi River boats from September
through the following June; the ‘ Capitol’ in the earlier part of the season,
the ‘President’ later. Both boats leave the foot of Canal Street at 9
p.M. and return at 12.30 A.M.

_ Negro Night Clubs

The Negro night clubs of New Orleans are patterned after those of
Harlem. The proprietors visit Harlem to study the color schemes and
acquire the atmosphere of night clubs there, because ‘it serves well along
publicity lines.” Even the music and floor shows are handled in the Harlem
manner — nothing less than ‘red hot.” The tunes are loud, but have the
‘swing’ that causes Negroes to move their bodies and tap their feet.
‘They b’lieve in mugging.” All kinds of whiskies are served; champagne
or any kind of cocktail may be purchased. ‘When a colored man steps
out he is out.’

Negro night clubs open at present include: the Tick Tock Tavern, 235
S. Rampart St.; the Rhythm Club, 3000 Jackson Ave.; the Cotion Club,
1301 Bienville St.; and the Japanese Tea Garden, 1140 St. Philip St.
Special programs and floor shows vary. White persons are admitted to
these night clubs at any time. Reservations may be made by telephone.




RECREATIONAL FACILITIES

Audubon Park (Magazine car from Canal and Magazine Sts. or St.
Charles car from Canal and Baronne Sts.) has 247 acres of gardens,
lagoon, zoological exhibits, and recreational facilities. Tennis courts,
baseball diamonds, football gridirons, picnic grounds, playgrounds
(including merry-go-round, etc.), bridle path, swimming pool, band-
stand, 18-hole golf course, boating, and fishing are recreational facilities
to be found in the park. (See respective sports for hours, reservations,
and admission charges.)

City Park (Esplanade bus from Canal and Burgundy or City Park from
Canal and Bourbon Sts. go to different entrances; Cemeteries car from
any place on Canal — transfer to Carrollton bus at Carrollton Ave.),
the sixth largest municipal park in the United States (extension work
under the Works Progress Administration is raising its rank) affords
the most extensive recreational facilities to be found in the city. Facili-
ties, including those now under construction, will eventually provide
a stadium with a seating capacity of 25,000, a yacht basin, 12 baseball
diamonds, 33 tennis courts, two 18-hole golf courses, football gridirons,
picnic grounds, bridle paths, play grounds, a swimming pool, a band-
stand and boating and fishing. (See respective sports for hours, reserva-
tions and admission charges.)

Lake Ponichartrain Shore (West End car from any place on Canal St. to
West End; transfer to Robert E. Lee bus at West End to go to Pont-
chartrain Beach; to reach Milneburg take Frenchmen bus from Canal
and Chartres Sts. and transfer to Milneburg bus at Frenchmen and
Gentilly Road; taxi fare to Beach is 70¢) has miles of sandy bathing
beaches from West End to Milneburg. Extensive work under the Works
Progress Administration will provide tennis courts, baseball diamonds,
horseshoe courts, wading pools, etc. Cruisers, skiffs, and other craft
may be rented at various places along the lakefront. An amusement
park is located at Pontchartrain Beach.

New Orleans Athletic Club, 222 N. Rampart St., has a fully equipped
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Fishing (See Hunting and Fishing.)

Golf ;
Audubon Golf Club, 473 Walnut St. (St. Charles car from Canal and
Baronne Sts. to Walnut; walk three blocks toward river). The 18-hole
course (5718 yards) is open to guests of members and patrons of leading
hotels. Professional instructions are available.

City Park Golf Courses (walk along bayou at Esplanade entrance and
turn right after crossing railroad tracks) are the only public links in the
city. Two 18-hole courses are available; No. 1 (6445 yards) and No. 2
(5500 yards) have a 50¢ fee, which entitles the golfer to play an entire
day. On No. 1 it is necessary to engage a caddy (75¢). Books entitling
the purchaser to play as often as desired may be obtained for $3, exclu-
sive of caddy fees. Professional instruction is available.

Colonial Country Club. (See above.)
Lakewood Country Club. (See above.)
Metairie Golf Club. (See above.)

New Orleans Country Club. (See above.)

Gymnasiums

Bekrman Public School Gymnasium, 2800 Prytania St., corner of Wash-
ington Ave. (St. Charles car from Canal and Baronne Sts.), is operated
as part of the recreational activities of the Orleans Parish School Board
for basketball games and swimming classes. All school children, from
both public and parochial schools, are permitted to enjoy its facilities
free of charge.

Marullo’s, 343 Baronne St. (private gym for men); 31624 St. Charles St.
(for women).

New Orleans Athletic Club. Available to guests of members only.
Y.M.C.A. Classes are held at 12.15 p.m. Mondays, Wednesdays, and
Fridays, and at 5.30 p.M. Tuesdays and Thursdays; available to guests
of members only.

V.M.H.A. Available to guests of members only.

V.W.C.A. Morning classes are held on Mondays, Wednesdays, and
Fridays at 10. Evening classes are held on Mondays, Tuesdays, and
Thursdays at 6.15. Gym facilities are available to non-members.

Riding
Audubon Riding Club, Audubon Park.
Airport Riding Academy, Milneburg (Frenchmen bus from Canal and
Chartres Sts.); taxi 70¢.
Golden Spur Riding Academy, 3000 Jefferson Highway (out S. Claiborne
Ave. and US 61); taxi $1.50.
Bridle paths are located in Audubon Park and City Park, along the

levee above Audubon Park, and along the lake-front at Lake Pontchar-
train.




Recreational Facilities xlv

Swimming
Awudubon Park Natatorium, open from 6 A.M. to 10 p.M. daily from May
to September, is divided into two 75 X 225-feet sections graduating in
depth from three to nine feet. A children’s wading pool, diving boards,
chutes, etc., are among the facilities.

City Park Natatorium, open from 6 A.M. to 10 p.M. daily from May to
September, is a 75 X 200-feet pool graduating in depth from two to
nine feet. Suits and towels may be rented.

Lake-front swimming may be enjoyed along the Pontchartrain sea wall
from West End to Little Woods. A Negro beach is located a short dis-
tance west of Shushan Airport. Signs indicate the depths at various
intervals along the sea wall. At Spanish Fort a beach (Pontchartrain
Beach) has been made by pumping in sand from the lake.

Masonic Temple Natatorium, 333 St. Charles St., open from 7 A.Mm. to
10 p.M. from May to September, is a 17 X 42-feet pool graduating in
depth from three to six feet. Suits and towels may be rented.

New Orleans Athletic Club Pool (20 X 40 feet), open from 9 AM. to
11 .M. daily, is fed from a salt-water well and graduates in depth from
3% to 715 feet. Only members and their guests are admitted.

New Orleans Country Club Pool, measuring 40 X 120 feet and graduating
in depth from three to ten feet, is open from May to September. Only
members and their guests are admitted.

Y.M.C.A. Natatorium is a 20 X 6o-feet pool graduating in depth from
two to nine feet. Only members and their guests are admitted.

Y.M.H.A. Natatorium, open from 9 A.M. to 10 p.M. daily, is a 20 X 6o-
feet pool graduating in depth from four to eight feet. Only members and
their guests are admitted.

Tennis
Audubon Park has a total of 23 all-weather courts, 19 of which are illumi-
nated for night playing. The ticket office is located in front of the Nata-
torium. Reservations must be made in person unless the player possesses
a ticket book entitling him to telephone reservations for day or night.
Reservations may also be made through Dunlap’s Sporting Goods
Company, 138 Carondelet St.

City Park has a total of 30 tennis courts for day and night playing.
Reservations must be made in person at the ticket office near the Dumaine
St. entrance.

Lakewood Country Club has four courts for the use of members and their
guests.

New Orleans Country Club has seven courts for the use of members and
their guests.

The New Orleans Lawn Tennis Club, 4025 Saratoga Street (Freret car
from Canal and St. Charles Sts.), has enjoyed an uninterrupted existence
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since December 15, 1876, the date of its organization. The use of the
eight courts and a comfortable clubhouse is restricted to a member-
ship of 140. Club tournaments are held regularly, and an annual city-
wide tournament is played on the courts.

Trap Shooting

Jefferson Skeet Club, opposite the Colonial Country Club on Jefferson
Highway (out S. Claiborne Ave. and US 61), is open on Saturdays and
Sundays.

NEGRO RECREATIONAL FACILITIES

Young Men’s Christian Association, 2220 Dryades St. (Freret car from
Canal and St. Charles Sts., or Jackson car from Canal and Baronne Sts.
to Jackson Ave.; walk one block uptown), has recreational facilities includ-
ing an outdoor tennis court, soft-ball diamond and basketball court,
four pool tables, ping pong table, and tables for bridge, whist, chess, and
checkers. Guests of members have access, free of charge, to all facilities.

Young Women’s Christian Association, 2436 Canal St. (West End or Ceme-
teries car from any place on Canal St.), permits guests of members to
have access, free of charge, to all the facilities which include an outdoor
tennis and volley-ball court, and bridge tables. Tap and ballet dancing,
along with stunts, form a part of the entertainment on ‘Activity Day’
every Thursday from 5.30 to 9.

Billiards
Autocrat Social and Pleasure Club, 1725 St. Bernard Ave. (St. Bernard
bus from Canal and Burgundy Sts.). Three pool tables; available to
members and their guests only.
Pelican Billiard Hall, 303 S. Rampart St. Eight pool tables.

Y.M.C.A., 2220 Dryades St. Four pool tables; available to members
and their guests only.

Gymmasiums

San Jacinto Club, 1422 Dumaine St. (City Park car from Canal and
Bourbon Sts.). Gym (facilities for calisthenics and boxing) for members
and their guests only.

Swimming
Lake Pontchartrain. The section of the sea wall reserved for Negroes is
located a short distance west of Shushan Airport.

Thomy Lafon Pool, Sixth and S. Robertson Sts. (Freret car from Canal
and St. Charles to Sixth St.; walk one block right), measuring 60 X 30
feet and graduating in depth from four to seven feet, is an outdoor pool
open from 9 A.M. to 10 p.M. Admission for night and Sunday swimming
is 10¢; free during the day.
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Tennis
Y.M.C.A. Two courts available to members and their guests.

HUNTING AND FISHING

US 90 traverses the tidal pass and lake districts along the Louisville and
Nashville Railroad from New Orleans to Pearl River, a favorite hunting
and fishing area close to New Orleans. At Chef Menteur, Lake St.
Catherine, and Rigolets there are ample accommodations. Both black
bass and salt-water fish are found at all these points. Duck and snipe
shooting is usually good.

A popular hunting trip out of New Orleans is to the State shooting
grounds at Pass-a-Loutre in the delta of the Mississippi River, an excel-
lent duck-shooting locality. Reservations and necessary information may
be secured at the office of the Department of Conservation, New Orleans
Court Building, Chartres and Conti Sts. Mallard, canvasback, pin-tailed,
and other choice ducks abound in the thousands of acres set aside here
partly as a public shooting grounds and partly as a bird refuge.

La 1 and 31 lead to the hunting and fishing territory of St. Bernard
Parish and the upper and central parts of Plaquemines Parish. Some of
the more important points are Reggio, Yscloskey, Delacroix Island,
Pointe-d-la-Hache, and Buras. Duck and snipe are generally plentiful
throughout this territory in the hunting season.

Down Bayou Barataria (cross on the Napoleon Ave. Ferry to Marrero
and follow La 30), one has the choice of many waterways and great
expanses of swamp and marsh, where snipe, duck, and deer hunting are
dependable. Beyond lie Little Lake, the lower Barataria Country, and
Grand Isle, all excellent hunting and fishing grounds. A tarpon rodeo is
held every summer at Grand Isle. There are not many public camps in
this district, but the facilities of numerous clubs are available to visitors,
who can secure common tackle and ammunition from stores at Barataria
or Lafitte. Guides, boats, and bait are also obtainable. There are hotels
at Grand Isle.

West of New Orleans on US 90 is Lockport, convenient base for hunt-
ing on lower Bayou Lafourche, including duck grounds about Larose,
Cut-Otf, Cher Ami, and Golden Meadow. A little farther west, out of
Houma, waters and marshes affording some of the best hunting and fish-
ing in Louisiana are accessible. At Wonder Lake the black bass fishing
is exceptionally fine.

The Bonnet Carré Spillway area, 32 miles up the Mississippi River from
New Orleans, is a fishing preserve, under control of a club that leases
the area from the Government. The spillway tract extends from the
Mississippi River to Lake Pontchartrain and includes good spots for bass,
good rabbit country, and some snipe grounds near the lakeshore.
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Between New Orleans and Hammond is a great deer-hunting district
near Pass Manchac, Lake Maurepas, and the lower Amite River. There
are also fine fishing grounds for bass and other species in this territory.
Bears are encountered occasionally in the Lake Maurepas region and
sometimes wild hogs furnish an exciting form of sport.

For some kinds of fresh-water fishing and for quail and turkey hunting
it is necessary to go north and northwest of New Orleans. Bogalusa,
Covington, Pontchatoula, Hammond, Baton Rouge, and New Roads
are good bases for anyone interested in sport with inland types of game
and fish. The quail shooting in the Feliciana Parishes is especially good,
and some of the best woodcock and wild turkey shooting in the Florida
Parishes is available in this area.

AMATEUR SPORTS EVENTS

Baseball is played every Sunday afternoon by a number of semi-profes-
sional and amateur teams at the following parks: Hi-Way Park, 3800
Jefferson Highway (out S. Claiborne Ave. and US 61); Holy Cross Park,
4900 Dauphine St. (St. Claude car from N. Rampart and Canal Sts.);
Lincoln Park, S. Broad and Clio Sts. (West End or Cemeteries car, any
place on Canal St. — transfer to southbound Gentilly-Broad bus at
Broad St.); Warren Easton Park, Hagan Ave. and Bienville St. (West
End or Cemeteries car, any place on Canal St. to Jefferson Davis Park-
way; walk two blocks downtown). College, high school, and other ama-
teur teams of the city play on diamonds throughout New Orleans.

Basketball games are played, in season, by Dillard University (Negro),
Dominican College (female), Loyola University, Tulane University,
Ursuline College (female), Xavier University (Negro), and the high
school and private preparatory schools. During the Mid-Winter Sports
Carnival a basketball game is staged between two outstanding teams.

Boxing contests are staged under the auspices of the Southern Amateur
Athletic Union at various times at the New Orleans Athletic Club, 222 N.
Rampart St., the Kingsley House, 1600 Constance St. (Magazine car
from Canal and Magazine to Felicity St.; one block toward river), and
the Knights of Columbus, 836 Carondelet St. Annual (Southern Amateur
Athletic Union) championships are held at the Coliseum, 401 N. Roman
St. (West End or Cemeteries car from any place on Canal St.; walk
four blocks downtown). Tulane University’s team engages other teams
of the Southeastern Conference at the gymnasium (Freret car from
Canal and St. Charles Sts. to Tulane Campus). Negro matches are held
irregularly at the St. Joan of Arc School, Cambronne and Freret Sts.
(St. Charles car from Canal and Baronne Sts. to S. Carrollton and
Freret; walk three blocks uptown), and the San Jacinto Club, 1422
Dumaine St. (City Park car from Canal and Bourbon Sts. to Marais
St.). A boxing tournament between city teams is conducted under the
auspices of the Mid-Winter Sports Association.
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Football games of national importance are played by Tulane and Loyola
Universities with Southern and intersectional teams. The Tulane Stadium
is located at Willow and Calhoun Sts. (Freret car from Canal and St.
Charles St. to Calhoun; walk four blocks north), and the Loyola Stadium
at Freret and Calhoun Sts. (Freret car at Canal and St. Charles Sts.).
The annual Sugar Bowl game is played at the former on New Year’s Day.
High schools and preparatory schools usually play at the above-men-
tioned stadia in addition to the old Tulane stadium and ‘prep’ field
located in the intervening area, and at the new Municipal stadium built
under the Works Progress Administration in City Park. Dillard and
Xavier Universities (Negro schools) also play football at Dillard Uni-
versity, Gentilly Road (Gentilly car from Canal and Bourbon Sts.),
and Xavier University, Washington and Pine Sts. (Tulane car from any
place on Canal between the river and Loyola St. to Washington; walk
three blocks right).

Golf tournaments, the Men’s City Open and the Women’s City Tourna-
ment (the latter for club members only) are held annually at various
courses in the city (see under Golf, above, for location of links). Admis-
sion is free. Tulane University’s golf team engages other universities in
dual matches. An intercollegiate tournament is held during the Mid-
Winter Sports Carnival.

Polo is played at Jackson Barracks, St. Claude Ave. and the St. Bernard
Parish line (St. Claude car at N. Rampart and Canal Sts.), every Wednes-
day, Saturday, and Sunday afternoon between three local teams. Admis-
sion is free, except for charity games played with out-of-town teams,
for which the charge is usually 50¢. Ample parking space is afforded
along both sides of the playing field.

Tennis matches, the City Tournament (held at various courts) and the
New Orleans Public Park Tournament (held at City Park) are staged
annually. Admission to the former is free, but charges are usually made
for the finals of the Public Park matches (see under Tennis, above, for
location of courts). The tournament conducted at the close of every year
under the auspices of the Mid-Winter Sports Association attracts many
of the Nation’s ranking stars. Tulane, Loyola, Dillard (Negro), Xavier
(Negro), and Dominican College (female) also play tennis.

Track and Field meets are held at Loyola and Tulane stadia. The most
outstanding meet is held annually in conjunction with the Sugar Bowl
game. World and national champions participate. Each year on the
Saturday closest Jackson Day (January 8) leading cross-country men
from the city and vicinity run over a course (Spanish Fort to the Cabildo)
which in December, 1814, was the route taken by the garrison of Spanish
Fort as it ran to join Jackson’s forces leaving for the Chalmette front.
Dillard (Negro), Xavier (Negro), and Dominican College (female) also
engage in track and field meets.

Yacht races are held Saturday and Sunday mornings and afternoons,
weather permitting, under the auspices of the Southern Yacht Club.
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Schooners, 21-footers, star class, knockabouts, fish class, auxiliary knock-
abouts, Gulf one-designs, and yawls engage in races over a six-mile and
a seven-and-a-half-mile triangular course. Long-distance races to Biloxi
and the Chefuncte River are held every year.

PROFESSIONAL SPORTS EVENTS

Baseball

Heinemann Park, Carrollton and Tulane Ave. (Tulane car from any
place on Canal St. between Loyola and the river), is the home of the
‘Pelicans,” New Orleans’ representative in the Southern Association.
Both night and day games are held. The seating capacity is 9500, with
2000 additional temporary seats available for the Dixie Series. The
Cleveland ‘Indians,” who ‘farm’ players with the local team, train at
the park each spring.

The Crescent Stars, the New Orleans Black Pelicans, and the Algiers
Giants (Negro teams) play irregularly at Crescent Star Park, Dorgenois
and St. Anthony Sts. (Frenchmen bus from Canal and Chartres Sts. to
Dorgenois; walk three blocks uptown), Lincoln Park, S. Broad and Clio
Sts. (West End or Cemeteries car, any place on Canal St., transfer to
southbound Gentilly-Broad bus at Broad St.), and Heinemann Park.

Boxing
Coliseum Arena, 401 N. Roman St. (West End or Cemeteries car, any
place on Canal St. to Roman; walk three blocks downtown). Five pre-
liminaries of four rounds each and a main bout of ten rounds usually
make up the card. White and colored are admitted. Seating capacity is

Cockfighting

Cockfights are held on Sundays from October to July at one or the other
of the following pits: Bisso and Mills Pit, South Kenner, located about
18 miles above the city on the west bank of the river (US 61 from Canal
St. and S. Claiborne Ave.; cross Huey P. Long Bridge (toll-free) and
turn right on US 90); Four Horsemen Pit, located in St. Bernard Parish
below Menefee Airport (State Highway 1 from Canal and N. Rampart
Sts.). ‘

Shall’s Pit, Shall’s Dairy Farm, is situated two miles east of Kenner
(State Highway 1 — Jefferson Highway — from Canal St., and S. Clai-
borne Ave.).

Racing
Fair Grounds, main gate, Sauvage and Fortin Sts. (Esplanade bus from
Burgundy and Canal Sts. to Lopez; shuttle bus to entrance), offers
approximately 100 days of racing beginning on Thanksgiving Day each
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year. Seven races are held daily starting at 2.30; Daily Double, second
and third races, Quinella, last race. The certificate system of betting,
much the same as pari-mutuel is in effect. The glass-enclosed, steam-
heated grandstand has a seating capacity of about 6oco. Several $1000
handicaps are held each year, with the Louisiana Derby ($6000 purse)
the feature race. White and colored are admitted.

South Kenner Park (see Cockfighting above for directions) offers racing
on its half-mile track on Sundays and holidays, the season extending
from April to November. A bus, leaving from Canal and Saratoga Streets
at 1 p.M., makes a round trip (25¢) to the track; taxis, leaving from
Canal and Rampart Sts., offer round trips for 50¢. The eight-race pro-
gram starts at 2.15 p.m. Book-making, or oral betting, is in practice
with a quinella offered in the last race.

St. Bernard Kennel Club, St. Bernard Parish, 5.3 m. from Canal and
Rampart Sts. (St. Claude car from Canal and Rampart; transfer to St.
Claude bus; taxi $1), stages ten dog races nightly on its quarter-mile
track. The season extends from late spring to fall. Seating capacity is
about 1200; the pari-mutuel system of betting is used.

Wrestling
Coliseum Arena (see Boxing) stages wrestling matches every Thursday
evening at 8.30 p.m. Three bouts are usually held. The first event is a
half hour, one-fall match, and the others are one and two hour bouts,
best-two-out-of-three falls. White and colored are admitted.
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RESTAURANTS

EATING and drinking rank as fine arts in New Orleans and the traveler
finds the flavor of the past kept vitally alive in its restaurants. Year after
year the older institutions go on, in the same buildings and the same
atmosphere, serving the famous Creole dishes in undiminished excellence;
and even the newer restaurants conform to the tradition of good food
and service.

New Orleans Creole cuisine, evolved many years ago, had as its basis
French delicacy piquantly modified by the Spaniard’s love of pungent
seasoning, the Indian’s use of native herbs, and the Negro’s ability to
mix and bake. Into its evolution, too, went a singularly abundant and
diverse food supply, with not only a wide variety of fish, game, and
vegetables at the very door and exotic products available from the near-
by tropics, but a steady flow of delicacies imported from the old country.
A traveler to New Orleans in 1803 commented on the astonishing import
of luxuries, ‘out of keeping with so small and new a place: Malaga,
Bordeaux, Madeira, olive oil (a most important article of consumption),
brandied fruits, liqueurs, vinegars, sausages, anchovies, almonds, raisins,
prunes, cheese, vermicelli.’

New Orleans restaurateurs still scour far countries for certain important
ingredients of their dishes; and, although game, long the piéce de 7é-
sistance of restaurant cuisine, has been made contraband by recent laws,
and many of the flavorous old herbs have disappeared, much remains.
The Gulf pompano, which Mark Twain called ‘delicious as the less
criminal forms of sin’; the sheepshead, a fish almost equally as popular;
redfish, red snapper, oysters, shrimp, crabs, crawfish, and frog legs;
chicken or poulet, cooked in a hundred different ways, each one better
than the last; avocados, burr artichokes, fresh pineapple, fresh mush-
rooms, and fresh asparagus — these are only a few of the products
available to local chefs today as in the past.

New Orleans, having taken the trouble to concoct its delicious, many-
tasting foods, may raise a quizzical eyebrow at the occasional spinach
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and lettuce-leaf devotee who happens along, but to the appreciative
gourmet she extends a joyous welcome. This spirit of gracious catering,
found alike in the noted restaurants and in many of the humblest, is a
sort of noblesse oblige deriving from the fine tradition of the past; for the
city boasts of a long line of distinguished old hostelries.

The first restaurateurs were largely Spaniards, who laid small emphasis
on food and featured rather delectable drinks, Spanish music, and Spanish
dancing. Fashionable Creole gentlemen, when they foregathered to sip
their wines and discuss the price of indigo, the imminent duel, or the
latest news from Europe, preferred, however, the quieter and more
elegant cafés: Maspéro’s, Hewlitt’s, or John Davis’s. If a man required
good, solid food and was unfortunate enough not to be able to eat at
home — the prevailing practice — there was only the Restaurant d’Or-
léans, the exclusive Le Veau Qui Téte, and the somewhat rowdy Hatel de
la Marine, haunt of the Lafitte pirates and other colorful characters.

With the period of phenomenal wealth which began about 1830, the
habit of dining out really began. Many brilliant banquets were given
under the frescoed dome of the old St. Louis Hotel, or at the St. Charles,
whose famous gold service was brought out on state occasions. Suppers
and after-the-theater parties took place at those rival city restaurants,
Moreau’s and Victor’s, who vied in the excellence of their dishes and
the distinction of their guests. And the Gem sprang into fame with its
fabulous free lunches.

But it was at the suburban inns that the most skillful chefs presided
and memorable feasts occurred. At Carrollton Gardens, near the levee
where today the St. Charles street-car turns into Carrollton Avenue,
inviting meals were served on the broad verandas of the hotel overlooking
the grounds, with their summer houses and pagodas, their jasmines and
honeysuckle vines. The ‘lake end’ restaurants at Milneburg, Spanish
Fort, and West End were popular. These were quaint wooden buildings
with large rooms and many porches, set on piles over the lake, with well-
tended parks and flower gardens in front. It was at Milneburg, and
under the supervision of the noted chef Boudro, that a dinner was
tendered in 1856 to Thackeray. ‘At that comfortable tavern on Pont- .,
chartrain,” Thackeray commented afterward, ‘we had a bouillabaisse
than which a better was never eaten at Marseilles — and not the least
headache in the morning, I give you my word.’

At a later date, came ‘Léon’s,” a resort of both high-class gamblers and
fastidious epicures; the unique market restaurants, Begué’s, Maylié’s,
Tujague’s; and the innumerable little French restaurants, with names
like Les Quatres Saisons (The Four Seasons), Le Pélerin (The Pilgrim),
etc., of which Lafcadio Hearn said, ‘Each one, like those of Paris, has
some particular specialty, and the chicken, shrimps, mushrooms, and
wines are universally excellent.’

Today, the restaurants are largely French and Italian, but it is also
possible to get good German and Mexican food.
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French Restaurants

Antoine’s, 713 St. Louis St., proprietor, Roy Alciatore, open 11 a.M. to
10.30 p.m. Make reservations in advance. A la carte service only, with
minimum charge of $1 per person. Private rooms for dining and for
banquets. A representative meal can be had from $3 to $3.50 per person.

This old restaurant, with its tall, gabled roof, wrought-iron balconies,
and mellow lighting, possesses an air of quiet distinction. Almost a hun-
dred years old, it has become widely known both here and abroad for the
perfection of its cuisine.

Antoine Alciatore, founder of the restaurant, was born in Marseilles,
France, and had already acquired skill as a chef before coming to New
Orleans in 1840. By 1876, with his establishment in the present building,
he was ranked as a leading restaurateur.

The interior of the restaurant is quaintly old-fashioned, and is both
lighted and heated from antique gas chandeliers in the ceiling. No jazz
music breaks on the diner’s ears; as one of its proprietors was wont to
insist: ‘The aroma of good food and the tinkle of wine glasses is music
enough.’

What to eat at Antoine’s? There is so much that is excellent one be-
comes slightly confused, as did Will Rogers: ‘ Why, listen, they got a soup
they herded around in front of me that was crawfish boiled in white
wine and aromatic herbs. Why, they got tortoise-shell terrapin that is
served in its own shell. Omelette souflee historiee! Say, they make all
of them out of golden pheasants’ eggs.” The two dishes invented by the
restaurant which have won greatest fame are the Auitres en coquille ¢ la
Rockefeller (oysters Rockefeller) and pompano en papillote (pompano
cooked in a paper bag with a particularly luscious sauce); no other
restaurant has been quite able to equal them on these dishes. Antoine’s
1s also noted for its bisque d’écrevisses & la cardinal (crayfish bisque),
poulet chanteclair (chicken marinated in red wine before cooking), and
omelette soufflée, a superb dessert.

Antoine’s ‘mystery room’ (so called because of a famous picture which
originally hung there) is a most popular place for intimate dinners, and on
its walls are testimonials from prominent guests. There one will find
Calvin Coolidge’s laconic ‘With appreciation’ and Taft’s flourishing
signature. But perhaps Irvin S. Cobb’s comment is the most character-
istic: ‘Once upon a time, being seduced by certain poetic words of
Thackeray, I made a special trip to a certain café in Paris to eat bouil-
labaisse. I found it distinctly worth while. Later I went to Marseilles,
the home of this dish, and there ate it again and found it better. And
then I came back to America and ate it at Antoine’s in New Orleans and
found it best of all.’

Arnaud’s, 813 Bienville St.; proprietor, Arnaud Cazenave; open 9 A.M.
to 12.30 A.m. Table d’héte lunch, 10.30 A.m. to 3 p.u., 50¢ to 75¢, de-
pending on entrée; there is also a lunch consisting of appetizer or soup,
dessert or coffee, for 30¢. Table d’hote dinner, 4.30 to 11 p.M., 75¢ to
$1.25, depending on entrée. French specialties 4 la carte.
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Arnaud’s was established as late as 1921, but has been a leading
restaurant almost from the beginning. Arnaud himself is a very popular
host.

The restaurant employs a large staff of cooks and waiters, ready to
serve, on short notice, almost any French or Creole dish, with perhaps
slightly more emphasis on French cooking than Creole. Among its
specialties are shrimps Arnaud, filef de truite Amandine, breast of turkey
en papillote, oyster Whitney, langouste Sarah Bernhardt, stufied crab
Réjane, and crépe suzette Arnaud.

Begué’s, 504 Madison St.; proprietor, Katie Laporte. Hours: breakfast,
11 AM. to 3 p.M., $1 to $1.25. Begué’s, a market restaurant located
originally at 207 Decatur Street, lives today chiefly in its past. This
restaurant, flourishing in the ‘gay nineties’ and the favorite haunt of
Eugene Field on his New Orleans visits, was famous for its Bohemian
breakfasts, six-course affairs lasting from 11 o’clock to 2 or 3 p.M. Its
specialties were kidney stew with red wine and calf’s liver d /a bourgeoise.
The present restaurant is situated upstairs over a corner garage in the
rooms where Hypolite Begué had his latter-day restaurant.

Broussard’s, 819 Conti St.; proprietor, Joseph Broussard; open 9 A.M.
to 10.30 p.m. (later, if necessary). Creole breakfast, 9 to 11 A.M., 75¢;
table d’héte tunch, 11.30 A.M. to 2 p.M., 50¢ to 75¢, depending on entrée;
table d’h6te dinner, 5.30 to 10 p.M.; seafood dinner, $1; chicken dinner,
$1.25; steak dinner, $1.50. Banquet room and rooms for private dinners.
Reservations should be made for a party.

Broussard’s Restaurant is a small plain building, with no attempt at
ornamentation beyond a few tavern lights in front. When the weather
permits, guests usually prefer to dine in the courtyard, a large, narrow
strip, part of a fine old garden, with shrubbery and bright flowers lining
the walls. Roses, calla lilies, violets, chrysanthemums, and hibiscus bloom
here as late as December.

The forte of this restaurant is preparing ‘little dinners’ for special
parties. Some of the dishes from which the place has made its reputation
are chicken papillote, oysters ¢ la Broussard, and the Broussard Surprise,
a dessert resembling crépe suzette.

Commander’s Palace, 1403 Washington Ave.; manager, Felix Tranchina.
Hours: 10 A.M. to 12 midnight. Private dining-booths; reservations not
necessary. One item that it claims as an exclusive dish is soft-shell
turtle ragout, which is obtainable during the warm months.

Galatoire’s, 209 Bourbon St.; proprietors, Gabriel, Léon, and Justin
Galatoire. Hours: 8 A.M. to 10.30 p.M.; merchants’ lunch, 11 A.m. to
2 p.M., 60¢; table d’h6te dinner, 5 to 8 p.M., $1; with small bottle of wine,
$1.25. Reservations should be made for dinner parties; private dining-
rooms available.

Galatoire’s excels in its Marguery sauce, served usually with filef de
truite. The crab meat here is all hand-picked, and all of the crab dishes
are delicious, particularly crab meat au gratin. Dinkelspiel salad is a meal
in itself, its base being crab meat, surrounded by many tempting hors.
d’ceuvres.

|
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Lucien Gaye's, 603 Royal St.; proprietor, Lucien Gaye. Hours: 7 A
to 10 p.M. Lucien Gaye’s is a French restaurant of the bourgeois type,
where good, plain French food is obtainable.

La Louisiane, 725 Iberville St.; proprietor, Mrs. Omar Cheer. Hours:
8 Aa. to 10 p..; table d’héte lunch, 11-2, 75¢; table d’héte dinner,
530-8, $1. Private dining-rooms, ballrooms, banquet rooms; make
reservations for dinner party, banquet, or ball.

La Restaurant de la Louisiane, established in 1881 by Louis Bézaudin,
has been the scene of many brilliant social affairs. The restaurant occupies
one of the most interesting and beautiful buildings of New Orleans, the
former mansion of the merchant prince Zacharie. It is a three-story
structure, with white facade and green shutters; balconies, edged with
handsome ironwork, jut over the arched entrance and windows beneath.
Inside, there is a succession of spacious rooms, with mirrored walls,
crystal chandeliers, brocade draperies, and softly carpeted floors.

Under the management of Fernand Alciatore, the French cuisine was
brought to a rare perfection that attracted guests from far and near.
La Louisiane’s guest-books are full of the names of people famous in the
early years of the twentieth century.

Some of the dishes featured by the restaurant are bisque écrevisse
Louisiane, canapé crab Louisiane, redfish courtbouillon, turkey Ro-
chambeau, filet de truite marguery, and baked Alaska.

Maylié’s, 1001 Poydras St.; proprietor, W. H. Maylié. Hours: 11 A.Mm.
to 9 r.M.; table d’héte lunch, 11-2, 50¢; table d’hste dinner, 5.30-9, $1;
open Sunday for dinner only, 5.30-9. Make reservations for party.

Maylié’s Restaurant, in the neighborhood of the old Poydras Market,
was established in 1878 as an informal market restaurant. Later, when
it became noted for the excellent quality of its food, it was conducted
on a strictly ‘stag’ basis. Its patrons are still mostly men, many of them
prominent in business circles, who go out of their way to enjoy what
Maylié’s offers them in the way of both food and relaxation. The two
dishes by which the house is best known are the bowuilli (boiled beef) and
hardshell crab stew. Wine is included with both lunch and dinner.

Rising out of a boxed space within a small central hallway of the
restaurant, and extending through the roof, is a wistaria vine sixty-five
years old. The stem of this vine is as large as an ordinary tree trunk,
and the foliage grows both inside and outside of the building.

Tujague’s, 823 Decatur St.; proprietor, John Castet. Hours: 6 A.M. to
9.30 p.m.; table d’hote breakfast, 10-2.30, 50¢; table d’héte dinner,
5-8.30, 60¢; make reservation for private parties.

This restaurant, established about 1880 and located near the French
Market, retains some of the characteristics of the old-fashioned market
restaurants. Marketmen are still served here in a special room in the
back. The food, though usually plain French fare, is very appetizing.

Vieux Carré, 241 Bourbon St.; proprietor, P. Lacoste. Hours: 10 a.M. to
10 »p.M.; table d’héte luncheon, 10-3, 50¢; table d’héte dinner, 3-10,
75¢. This is one of the best of the small restaurants of New Orleans.
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Though it has no noted specialties, it serves an excellent type of French
cooking. The restaurant is quiet and conservative, both in its appearance
and clientele.

German Restaurants

Kolb’s, 125 St. Charles St.; proprietor, Conrad Kolb. Hours 7 AM. to
1 aM. for 4 la carte service; breakfast and luncheon & la carte; table
d’héte dinner, 5 to 9 p.m., grill 85¢ to $1.25; dining-room, $1 to $1.50.
Private dining-rooms and banquet rooms; make reservations for parties.

Kolb’s, though serving a great variety of dishes, is the only restaurant
in New Orleans that makes a specialty of German food. The interior of
the main dining-room at Kolb’s is a very interesting reproduction of some
of the features of a German tavern, while on one side is a Dutch Room
with fireplaces and chimneys.

The food in general is excellent and the surroundings are very pleasant.
Among the German dishes the proprietor recommends the following:
wiener schnitzel with vegetables, German pot roast with potato pancake,
stewed goose with dumplings, pig knuckles with sauerkraut, and home-
made pork sausage with red cabbage.

At night a Tyrolean orchestra in costume plays wine and beer classics,
and both orchestra and guests join in singing old folk songs.

Italian Restaurants

Masera’s, 807 St. Louis St.; proprietor, Joseph Masera. Open 9 A.M. to
12 midnight, & la carte orders. Table d’hdte dinner, 5 to midnight, $1.
Masera’s was established toward the beginning of the present century,
and is well known for its Italian specialties.

B. Montalbano, 724 St. Philip St.; proprietor, B. Montalbano. Open 10
AM. to 10 P..; table d’hote, 65¢ up to 6 p.u.; 75¢ from 6 to 10 P.u.;
make reservations for a party, as seating capac1ty is very limited.

This establishment is a unique mixture of delicatessen shop, religious
shrine, and restaurant.

The Roma Room, where meals are served, has been blessed by Pope
Pius XI. Here has been constructed an improvised altar, with a copy
of the Vatican at the top, and in the corners on either side small votary
candles are kept burning continuously. Colored prints of religious pic-
tures from Rome are inset into the wall by means of gay-colored strips
of oilcloth. The ceiling is decorated with Christmas-tree trimmings of
colored balls and tinsel. In these Italian peasant surroundings, there
has been placed a long table with room for about a dozen guests. The
usual dinner is chicken ravioli or spaghetti and chicken, with an elaborate
dish of Italian antipasto.

Turci’s Italian Gardens, 223 Bourbon St.; proprietor, Ettore Turci. Open
11 AM. to 11 p.M. for & la carte orders. Table d’héte dinner, 5.30 to
9 p., 80¢.

Turci’s is one of the leading Italian restaurants in New Orleans. It
was established by Signor and Signora Turci, opera singers from Northern
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Italy, who toured the United States with various companies before
settling down to the restaurant business. As a consequence, Turci’s has
always been the favorite haunt of visiting opera singers. The restaurant
serves home-made ravioli, home-made noodles, and various kinds of
Ttalian spaghetti.

The following Italian restaurants are also well known for their Ttalian
food and seafood specialties: Tortorich Restaurant, 441 Royal St.; Gen-
tilich Caterers, goo Rampart St., situated across from the Municipal
Auditorium and patronized by after-theater parties; and the uptown
places: S. Dominici, 3633 Prytania St.; Manale’s Restaurant, 1838
Napoleon Ave.; Zibilich Restaurant, 3750 S. Claiborne Ave.; Tranchina’s,
2505 Carondelet St.; and Delmonico’s, 1300 St. Charles Ave.

In connection with the Italian restaurants, it is interesting to note that
Ursuline St., between Royal and Chartres, is commonly called ‘Spumone
Block’ from the number of little confectionery shops established there
which serve Italian ices (spumone, cassata, alkeno, and sciallotti) and
cakes (cannola, etc.).

M exican Restaurants

La Lune, 80co Bourbon St. Open 9 p.M. to 6 A.m. The Mexican food at
La Lune is excellent and reasonably priced.

Tea Rooms and Restaurants

Court of the Two Sisters, 615 Royal St.; proprietor, Jimmie Cooper.
Opéen Sundays and weekdays. Lunch, 12 to 2.30, 50¢; dinner, 5 to 10.30,
60¢ to $1.

The Court of the Two Sisters possesses an interesting background.
The courtyard, originally one of the finest in New Orleans, is quite
large, and still attractive with its old willow and fig trees. Itisa favorite
spot for dining in the summer. Seafood dinners and chicken dinners
are featured.

Courtyard Kitchen, 820 St. Louis St.; proprietor, Mrs. J. P. Burton.
Open weekdays only. Lunch, 12 to 2.30, 85¢; tea, 2.30 to 5, 25¢ up.
Breakfast a la carte may be obtained from 8 to 12. Special party break-
fast by arrangement, particularly on Sundays. Make reservations for
parties.

The Courtyard Kitchen is so called from the fact that it is in the out-
of-door kitchen of a former home. The dining-room is furnished as an
ante-bellum kitchen and during the winter months log fires are kept
burning in its huge fireplace. On sunshiny days tables are set for luncheon
and tea in the courtyard, one of the most beautiful in New Orleans.

This establishment is noted for gumbo, stuffed crabs, Southern style
chicken, hot biscuit, home-made cakes, and desserts. Colored maids
dressed as mammies serve the food.

Green Shutter Tea Room, 710 St. Peter St.; proprietor, Miss Céleste
Eshleman. Open weekdays only, from October 1 to June 1, 9 aat. to
5 P.M. Lunch, 12 to 2 p.x., 45¢ to 75¢; tea, 2 to 5 p.m., 25¢ up. Sun-
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day breakfast served at 12 o’clock, by reservation. For minimum party
of thirty, $1 each.

The Green Shutter is housed in a quaint old Spanish home, with low,
sloping roof and heavy green shutters on windows and doors. The
uneven brick floor, wooden beams, and plastered walls of the main dining-
room remain exactly as when this house was built. Featured dishes are
Creole gumbo, jambalaya, grillades with yellow grits, and waffles with
sausage and bacon.

Patio Royal, 417 Royal St.; proprietor, Mrs. Jeanne Castellanos. Open
weekdays; lunch, 11.30 A.M. to 3 p.M., 75¢ to $1; dinner, 5 to 9 p.m., $1;
Sunday night supper dances, 8 p.M. to 12, $1.50. Bar open from 10 A.m.
to 9 p.M.

Patio Royal,located in the old Paul Morphy Home, has many beautiful
and striking features. The Spanish Room is furnished with treasures
from abroad — rugs from Algeria, tapestry and brass from Morocco,
torchéres from Granada, lamps from Seville, and red straw-bottomed
chairs from Paris. Two lovely wrought-iron gates swing under the
arches separating the Spanish Room from the dining-room proper.
The porte-cochére entrance leads from the dining-room into a passage-
way, embellished with large stone jars, to an attractive courtyard in the
back.

The Patio is very popular for luncheon parties and dinner dances.
Private rooms available for parties. Make reservations for parties only.

The Southern Marigold, 619 Royal St.; proprietor, Mrs. Mary B. Baldwin.
Open weekdays only, December 1 to April 1. Luncheon, 12 to 2.30, $1;
dinner, 6 to 8, $1.50.

This place is unique in New Orleans, in that absolutely no French or
Creole dishes are served. Instead there is the best of Southern cooking.
Mrs. Baldwin is also proprietor of a very successful restaurant at Niagara
Falls.

Hotel Restaurants

Jung Hotel (Florentine Room), 1500 Canal St.; manager, Arthur Land-
street. Open 8 A.M. to 9 pP.uM.; & la carte service all day; table d’héte
lunch, 12 to 1.30 p.M., 75¢; table d’hdte dinner, 6 to 9 p.u., $1.

Monteleone Hotel, 214 Royal St.; maitre d’h6tel, René Cazaubon. Open
6 A.M. to 12 midnight for & la carte service; lunch, table d’h6te for busi-
ness men, 11 to 2 p.M., 40¢ to 50¢ (lunch is not served table d’hote
on Sunday); dinner, table d’héte, 5 to 9 p.M., 75¢ to $1.

Roosevelt Hotel (Fountain Room), 123 Baronne St.; manager, Lou Lemler.
Open 6 A.M. to 12 midnight for & la carte service; table d’héte lunch,
12 to 2 p.M., 45¢ to 90¢; table d’héte dinner, 5 to 9.30 p.M., 85¢ to $1.50;
club breakfast, 6 A.M. to 12 noon, 30¢ to 75¢.

Music for dinner dancing from 6 to 9.30 p.m. is furnished by ranking
orchestras from large metropolitan cities. For the luncheon period
there is a local orchestra.
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St. Charles Hotel, 211 St. Charles St.; manager, H. O. Guion. Open
6 a.M. to 12 midnight; breakfast, 6 to 11 A.M., 35¢ to 90¢; table d’héte
lunch, 11 A.M. to 2 p.M., 45¢ to 80¢; table d’héte dinner, 5 to 8.30 p.u.,
85¢ to $1.50.

Store Restaurants (not open on Sundays)

D. H. Holmes, 819 Canal St.; manager, M. J. Briant. Open 7 A.M. to
9 p.M.; lunch, 11 A.M. to 2 p.M., 50¢, 60¢, and 75¢; dinner, 5 to 9 p.M.,
50¢ to $1.

Maison Blanche (The Rendezvous), gor Canal St.; manager, W. H.

Renaker. Open 9 A.M. to 6 P.M, 2 la carte; club breakfast, 9 to 10.30 A.u.,
15¢ to 35¢; lunch, 10.30 A.M. to 3 p.M., 25¢ to 65¢.

Solari’s, 201 Royal St.; manager, Mrs. O. M. Harshman. Open 7.30 A.M.

to 6.30 p.M.; breakfast, 7.30 to 11 A.m., 10¢ to 50¢; lunch, 11 A.M. to
3 p.M., 45¢ to 65¢; & la carte service all day.

Miscellaneous Restaurants
French Market Coffee Stands, Decatur and St. Ann, and Decatur and
St. Philip Sts. Open day and night, except from 12 noon to 4 p.M.
Delicious coffee and doughnuts, 10¢.
Gluck’s, 124 Royal St.; manager, Henry A. Gluck. Open day and night.
Special lunch, 45¢; special dinner, 65¢ and 75¢; special plates, 25¢ to 40¢.
Martin Brothers, 2004 St. Claude Ave.; proprietor, Benny Martin. Open
day and night. Prices: poorboy sandwich, whole loaf, 25¢, half loaf, 15¢,
one third loaf, 10¢, quarter loaf, 5¢; special plate lunch, 20¢ and 25¢;
special supper (plate), 20¢; Sunday chicken dinner, 25¢.
St. Regis, 121 Royal St.; proprietor, Gaston Bertoniére. Open 6 A.M. to
12 midnight for a la carte orders; table d’héte lunch, 11 A.M. to 5 p.u.,
45¢; table d’hote dinner, 5 p.M. to 12 midnight, 65¢.
Thompson’s, 133 St. Charles St.; manager, W. H. Dodds. Open day and
night; lunch starts at 10.30 A.M.; dinner at 4.30 p.uM.

Cafeterias
(While some of the New Orleans cafeterias feature American food, most
of them also serve Creole dishes.)
Holsum’s, 718 Gravier St.; manager, W. G. Brown. Breakfast, 7 to
9.30 A.M.; lunch, 11 A.m. to 2.30 p.M.; dinner, 5 to 8 p.M.

Morrison’s, Masonic Temple, 333 St. Charles St.; manager, G. H. Ptomy.
Breakfast, 7 to 9.30 A.M.; lunch, 10.45 A.M. to 2.30 p.M.; dinner, 4.45
to 8 p.uM.

Morrison’s, 918 Gravier St.; manager, R. C. McClammy. Lunch, 11
AM. to 2.30 p.M.; dinner, 5 to 8 p.AL.

St. Regis, 121 Royal St.; manager, Gaston Bertoniére. Lunch, 11 A.M.
to 2 p.M.; dinner, 5 to 8 p.M.
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Wise’s, 233 Carondelet St.; manager, Herbert Wise. Breakfast, 7 to 10
AM.; lunch, 10 Am. to 2.30 p.M.; dinner, 5 to 8 p.M. Closed all day

Sunday.

Negro Restaurants
Astoria, 235 S. Rampart St.; manager, Miss Vera Braden. Open day and
night; & la carte service at all times; table d’héte lunch, 12 to 1.30 p.u.,
15¢ to 35¢; table d’héte dinner, 2 to 6 p.., 25¢ to 40¢.
Douglas, 1320 Iberville St.; manager, C. Douglas. Open day and night;
A la carte service at all times; table d’hote lunch, 12 to 2 ».M., 15¢ to
25¢; table d’hote dinner, 2 to 7 p.M., 15¢ to 25¢.
National Lunch Room, so1 S. Rampart St.; manager, A. Harris. Open
from 7 A.M. to 7 p.M.; & la carte service all day; table d’héte lunch, 12
to 2 .M., 10¢ to 25¢; table d’hote dinner, 2 to 7 p.M., 15¢ to 25¢.
Pelican, 301 S. Rampart St.; manager, A. J. Fabacher. Open day and
night; & la carte service at all times; table d’hote lunch, 12 to 1.30 p.um.,
15¢ to 35¢; table d’hdte dinner, 2 to 6 p.m., 20¢ to 30¢.
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month, but has no fixed date.

Mid-Winter Sports Carnival. Sugar Bowl football classic
(New Year’s Day), tennis and golf tournaments, bas-
ketball game, yacht regatta, track and field meet, and
inter-city boxing match.

Emancipation Day.

Twelfth Night (King’s Day and the official beginning of
Carnival). During short seasons balls are held before
King’s Day.

Jackson Day (Battle of New Orleans).

Mardi Gras (Shrove Tuesday). Parades start on previous
Thursday with night parade of Momus; followed on
Friday night with parade of Hermes; Saturday with
Nor, children’s parade; Proteus Parade on Monday
night, and Rex and Comus parades on Mardi Gras.
Zulu King and neighborhood organizations have parades
in various parts of the city.

St. Joseph’s Day (mi-caréme).

Spring Fiesta, second or third week before Easter.
Flower Show.

Sunrise Services. Tulane Stadium, 7 A.M.

Opening of Southern League baseball season.

Lower Mississippi Valley Musical Festival. Dillard
University.

Horse Show.

Louisiana Livestock Show.

McDonogh Day. Statue in Lafayette Square decorated
by school children.

Cooking School.

Confederate Memorial Day (Jefferson Davis’ birthday).

Automobile Show.

Southern Yacht Club Regatta.

Governors’ Yacht Race. New Orleans and Biloxi alter-
nate as host. )

Opening of theater and concert season.

All Saints’ Day. Decoration of cemeteries.

Beginning of racing season.

Doll and Toy Fund Christmas Tree for poor children.
Whites on Christmas Eve and Negroes on Christmas
Day.
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I. NEW ORLEANS! THE
GENERAL BACKGROUND




n

EET 2MASIXOQ Waw 1
ﬁwueiaxa&n Jg,nawaa

~
= -
= - = = [
- g G - = o -—
- ~ a
"
- Ve
'
[
o - 1
1
i =~
K
- “n
w1
‘ ¥ |
- I
X
. i
>
g
4
1
B ]
L |
i r

TR e A R s S




NATURAL SETTING

Geography. Surrounded by swamps and low-lying delta lands, New
Orleans proper (29° 56’ North Latitude; go°® 84" West Longitude) is an
urban oasis lying in a dike-enclosed area between the Mississippi River
and Lake Pontchartrain, 107 miles from the mouth of the river. The city
and parish boundaries are coterminous, New Orleans being the fourth
largest city in land area (365 square miles, of which 166 square miles are
water) in the United States. The boundary is very irregular; its total
length is 115 miles. On the north lie Lake Pontchartrain and Rigolets
Pass; on the east, Lake Borgne and St. Bernard Parish; on the south, St.
Bernard, Plaquemines, and Jefferson Parishes; and on the west, Jefferson
Parish. The Mississippi forms part of the boundary on the east, south,
and west. The greatest distance within the city limits is thirty-four and
a half miles from northeast to southwest; the distance between the river
and the lake varies between five and eight miles.

Although the built-up section occupies only a small proportion of this
large area, the city has expanded to a considerable extent beyond its
original limits (the present Vieux Carré). Extension has been made both
upstream and downstream and northward to Lake Pontchartrain; a strip
of territory (Algiers) on the west bank of the river has also been an-
nexed.

The popular name, ‘Crescent City,’ is derived from the fact that the
site of the original town was on a sharp bend of the river.

Topography. The average elevation of the city, which is below the high-
water levels of both the Mississippi River and Lake Pontchartrain, is but
one foot above mean Gulf level. The highest natural formations in the
city, about fifteen feet above mean Gulf level, are the strips of land ad-
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jacent to the river, the natural levees which confine the water to the chan-
nel during ordinary and all but the highest stages of the river.

The greater portion of the city would suffer from floods every year were
it not for the surrounding artificial levee system. Levees constructed along
the river and the Pontchartrain lake-front, across the swamps and along
the waterways are all interconnected, thus enclosing completely the built-
up section of the city, which is drained by means of canals and pumping
stations. The levees along the river average about 23 feet and those along
the lake-front and across the swamps and marshes about nine feet above
mean Gulf level. Approximately thirty-nine per cent of the total land
area of New Orleans is enclosed within levees. The unprotected sixty-one
per cent is the peninsula and lands which lie along Lakes Pontchartrain
and Borgne and extend northeastward from Micheaud to the Rigolets
Pass. This area, for the most part subject to overflow by high tides from
the Gulf, consists of delta fingers, coastal islands and ridges of low eleva-
tion, and intervening coastal marshes.

There are several navigable waterways within the municipal limits of
the city, all connecting with Lake Pontchartrain. The New Orleans
Navigation Canal begins at South Rampart Street at the edge of the busi-
ness district and runs northward, entering the lake near the northwestern
corner of the city. Farther east, the Inner Harbor Navigation Canal,
commonly known as the ‘Industrial Canal,’ provides a channel five and
one half miles long, with a depth of thirty feet and a width of three hun-
dred feet, connecting the river and the lake. Bayou St. John, formerly
a navigable stream, begins at Lafitte Avenue and Jefferson Davis Park-
way and runs northward to the lake. Other navigable waters in-
clude Chef Menteur Pass, Lake St. Catherine, and a number of small
passes and canals in the marsh area northeast of the built-up section
of the city; the Mississippi River, Lakes Pontchartrain and Borgne,
Rigolets Pass, and Bayou Bienvenue, all navigable, form part of the
boundaries.

Lake Pontchartrain on the north, one of the largest lakes in the United
States, is approximately forty-one miles long and twenty-five miles wide
and comprises an area of 635 square miles. Of this area 146 square miles
are included within the boundary of New Orleans.

Climate. Semi-tropical in nature, with an average yearly temperature
of 69.5°, the weather of New Orleans is remarkably equable, subnormal
cold and excessive heat being rare. The winters and summers are gener-
ally moderate, Gulf breezes and the proximity of numerous bodies of
water serving to modify extremes of temperature. Recordings of over
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100° and below 20° very seldom occur. The mean annual precipitation is
59.45 inches, an annual rainfall that exceeds that of any other large city
in the United States with the exception of Mobile and Miami. The highest
annual rainfall in New Orleans, 85.73 inches, occurred in 1927; the lowest,
31.7, in 1899.

The prevailing winds are from the Gulf, generally from the southeast.
Tropical hurricanes, which harass most points of the Gulf Coast, very
seldom strike New Orleans. Occasional fogs occur in the spring and winter
months, particularly along the river-front, but are, as a rule, of short
duration.

Geology and Paleontology. The Parish of Orleans, located near the
southeastern extremity of the Mississippi Alluvial Plain, lies wholly
within the delta. With the exception of a few minor outcrops of sea-island
sand and lake-shore deposits of sand and clam shell, all surface formations
within the parish are alluvial. The major topographic features are the
natural levees along the Mississippi and Gentilly ridges and along Bayou
Sauvage, a former outlet of the river.

The higher parts of these ridges, or ‘frontlands,” are composed of sandy
loams. These dip and graduate into the ‘backlands,” where the soil is
composed of a lighter loam and waxy clay. Deposits of stiff, blue clay
fill the area between the ridges, except near the lake shores and passes,
where the alluvial material has been reworked by tidal action. Here the
soil consists of mucky masses of partly decomposed vegetation inter-
spersed with a fine, drab-colored clay. Fine peat soil formed by marsh
vegetation in a state of partial decay sometimes accumulates over exten-
sive low areas to a depth of from one to three feet on the surface of the
blue clay.

Fossils consist mainly of marine shells and oysters associated with sea-
shore deposits, and clam shell (Rangia cuneata) associated with the clay
deposits. Indian relics are numerous on the shell ridges near the lakes,
and broken bits of pottery can be found mixed with oyster and clam-shell
fossils along the lake beaches. Iron concretions and fossil cypress wood
are found in the blue clay.

Drainage. The low elevation of New Orleans makes drainage of the city
a difficult problem. Water has to be removed by pumps from the metro-
politan section of the city, which is protected from outside high water by
encircling levees. Ten pumping stations and more than 870 miles of
drainage canals and pipelines have been installed for that purpose. Under-
ground tributary canals, fed by gutters and drainpipes, lead the water
into the main system, from which it is pumped into Bayou Bienvenue and
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flows by gravity into Lake Borgne. An additional safety measure is
provided for in the Bonnet Carré Spillway, which makes possible the
diversion into Lake Pontchartrain of Mississippi flood waters at a point
twenty miles above New Orleans.




HISTORY

SPANIARDS DISCOVER THE LAND

LEGENDARY accounts of early voyages by Spanish explorers are cu-
riously substantiated by ancient maps which show that the mouth of the
Mississippi River and the immediate vicinity of present-day New Orleans
were known to Europeans only a short time after Columbus led the way
to the New World.

On the Tabula Terre Nove, a map made by Waldseemiiller before 1508
from an original, probably the Cantino map of 1502, and on other early
charts, there appears the three-tongued mouth of a river, whose location,
west of a well-defined Florida, suggests the delta of the Mississippi. In-
asmuch as the discovery of Florida is attributed to no earlier an explorer
than Ponce de Leon (1513), the only possible inference is a previous dis-
covery, unrecorded in history except by cartographers.

Later knowledge of the river may have come from the half-legendary
voyages of Alvarez de Pineda and Cabeza de Vaca, intrepid adventurers
who explored the Gulf Coast from Florida to Mexico. According to a pic-
turesque account, Pineda in 1519 discovered the great river, to which he
gave the name Rio del Espiritu Santo. At its mouth he found a large
town, and for a distance of six leagues upstream counted forty villages in-
habited by giants and pigmies wearing ornaments of gold in their noses
and ears. All that was lacking in this beautiful and densely populated
El Dorado, where the rivers ran to the sea heavily laden with gold, was the
Fountain of Youth, for want of which, perhaps, the Spaniards thought
the country not worth conquering.

Less fantastic is the voyage of De Vaca, leader of the survivors of the
Narvaez expedition, which was commissioned by the Spanish Govern-
ment in 1528 to explore and conquer the Gulf Coast from Florida to
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Mexico. Escaping from the hostile Indians at Apalachicola Bay, De Vaca
and his men, making their way along the coast in makeshift boats, passed
the mouth of a broad river, presumably the Mississippi, which poured so
large a stream into the Gulf that his men were able to obtain fresh water
far out at sea. One account of this journey relates that, with the exception
of De Vaca and three men, the entire force capsized and was lost in the
current, while another narrator states that a tropical storm destroyed all
but the leader and a few men, who tarried six years among the Indians
before reaching Mexico.

The first white men to view the site of New Orleans were Luis Moscoso
and the survivors of De Soto’s expedition, who sailed down the river in
1543 on their way back to civilization. More than a century later, during
which time the lower Mississippi lay neglected by explorers, Sieur de la
Salle, with a party of fifty men, descended from the Great Lakes, making a
stop on March 31, 1682, at the Indian village of Maheoula, a Tangipahoa
settlement, which, from Tonty’s mention of it as being twenty leagues
from the western channel of the mouth, must have been close to the pres-
ent location of New Orleans. On April 9, 1682, at a point not far down-
stream (27° North Latitude), a cross was erected with a column bearing
the arms of France and an inscription claiming the territory in the name
of Louis XIV.

THE FRENCH FOUND THE CITY

Although the Mississippi was one of the first great rivers of North
America to be discovered and explored by Europeans, and although every
other important stream on the Atlantic seaboard had a fortified settle-
ment erected at its mouth shortly after its discovery as a safeguard against
inland exploration by rival European nations, it was not until almost a
hundred and fifty years after the discovery of the Mississippi that an at-
tempt was made to establish a settlement at the mouth of the river. For
that purpose Louis XIV sent out an expedition under La Salle in 1684; |
but sailing too far westward, he landed at what is now Matagorda Bay,
Texas, in the belief that he was entering the western channel of the Mis-
sissippi. Convinced of his error after landing, he sought the Mississippi
in vain, and was finally forced to abandon the project and attempt an
overland journey to Canada, during which he was treacherously killed by
one of his men.
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A more successful attempt to rediscover and secure the mouth of the
Mississippi was made in 1698, when Pierre Le Moyne, Sieur d’Iberville,
sailed from Brest with four ships and the wherewithal of colonization.

In February, 1699, the French arrived at Mobile Bay, where they
learned from the Indians that the Mississippi was a short distance to the
west. Proceeding to Ship Island, the fleet anchored and Iberville set out
in small boats in search of the entrance to the river. The mouth of the
Mississippi, lined with mud-coated tree trunks, which they mistook from
afar for rocks, was found on March 2. Running their boats ashore, the
party sang a Te Deum in honor of the occasion, and the next day, Shrove
Tuesday, began the ascent of the river, the appropriate name of Mardi
Gras being given to a bayou twelve miles upstream. Farther on, Indians
of the Bayagoula and the Mongoulacha tribes were met, and on the fol-
lowing Friday the party arrived at the present site of New Orleans, where
a buffalo was killed, a cross erected, and some trees marked. The expedi-
tion continued as far as the Red River and made its way back to the con-
voy by way of Bayou Manchac and Lakes Pontchartrain and Maurepas,
which were named after the Minister of Marine of France and his son,
respectively.

The following year Jean Baptiste Le Moyne, Sieur de Bienville, Iber-
ville’s brother, left the fort at Biloxi for further exploration of the river.
He ascended as far as the Ouchas and on his way back met an English
frigate of sixteen guns which had anchored twenty-eight leagues from the
mouth of the river. Bienville adroitly dissuaded the English captain from
proceeding up the river by informing him that his was but a small de-
tachment of a large French force stationed upstream. The English, being
taken in, weighed anchor and, turning about, sailed to the Gulf; thus
giving rise to the name English Turn, a part of the river not very far from
New Orleans, which has been particularly unlucky for the English, since
at the Battle of New Orleans, a century later, they were turned back again
a short distance from the same spot. By a slim margin — the difference
between the personalities of two men — was the founding of New Orleans
accomplished by the French rather than the English.

For twenty-four years (1699—1723) the capital of Louisiana remained
on the Gulf Coast. Because of the belief that ships would find difficulty
in gaining entrance to the shallow and débris-obstructed mouth of the
river, no attempt was made to establish a settlement on the lower Mis-
sissippi. Adrien de Pauger urged that a narrowing of the channel
through the construction of jetties would increase the current and make
the river a self-dredging agent, but his advice was not heeded for more
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than a century. In the meantime, exploratory work in the vicinity was
carried on by Jesuit priests, voyageurs from the Great Lakes, and
coureurs de bois, traders who did business with the Indians.

It being ascertained that suitable passage could be made for vessels at
the mouth of the river, Bienville decided upon the settlement of New
Orleans. A spot thirty leagues from the mouth, where Bayou St. John
ran from Lake Pontchartrain to within a short distance of the river, was
selected as the location, the place having been used by the Indians, long
before white men invaded the region, as a portage offering a short cut be-
tween the Mississippi and the coastal waters to the east. An additional
advantage afforded by the site was the relatively high land found there,
a consideration not to be overlooked in that annually flooded region where
the land hugged the sea in an endless labyrinth of cypress swamps, slug-
gish bayous, and coastal bays.

The exact date of the founding of La Nouvelle Oriéans, named in honor
of the Regent of France, Philippe, Duc d’Orléans, has been disputed,
though most historians agree upon the year 1718, at which time, in Febru-
ary, Bienville entrusted his engineers with the plotting of the town, the
exact location of which corresponds to the French Quarter of today.

-

EARLY GROWTH

The new settlement superseded Biloxi in 1723 as the capital of the vast
Colonial empire of Louisiana. Eighteen miles of levee were constructed
above and below the town, government buildings erected, and efforts
made to drain the land. As part of the ‘Mississippi Bubble,” John Law’s
grandiose real-estate project, New Orleans enjoyed an early increase in |
population, although the majority of immigrants coming to Louisiana in
quest of the easy living advertised in Europe chose to settle along the river
outside of the small town. Beside the civil and military officials, the popu-
lation consisted of slaves, soldiers, trappers, and merchants. Classes of
slaves included (1) Negroes imported directly from Africa or from the
French possessions in the West Indies; (2) esclaves naturels, Indian pris-
oners of war; and (3) ‘redemptioners,” impoverished Europeans, most of
whom were Germans, who had bound themselves to serve for a period of
three years in payment of their passage and were ‘sold’ to the planters by
ship captains. -Because of the rapid increase in slaves, the French practice
of populating Louisiana with convict labor soon came to a stop, resulting
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in an improvement in the type of colonist settling in and about New
Orleans.

Under the Company of the Indies, a John Law enterprise, the govern-
ment of the Colony was vested in a Superior Council consisting of the
directors of the trading company with a commandant-general, in place of
a governor, at its head. Lower courts were established for the administra-
tion of justice, and a right of appeal to the Superior Council was granted.
In 1724, the Code Noir, a compilation drawn up for the regulation of
Negroes on the island of Santo Domingo, was promulgated in Louisiana by
Governor Bienville. Among its additional provisions were those having to
do with the expulsion of Jews from the province, under penalty of confisca-
tion of property and imprisonment, and the establishment of the Catholic
religion as the State faith. For more than a century it formed the basis of
white treatment of enslaved Negroes.

The religious administration of the Colony was divided among three
religious orders. The Jesuits were given charge of all territory north of the
Ohio, the Capuchins were assigned to the territory west of the Mississippi
River, and the Carmelite Fathers were placed in charge of the settlement
east of the river with headquarters at Mobile. The Carmelites failed to
fill their assignment and the Capuchins were given charge, while the
Jesuits were allowed to do missionary work among the Indians in the
Capuchin territory, with the understanding that there would be no inter-
ference with Capuchin activities. Both orders were under the supervision
of the Bishop of Quebec.

Care for the sick and education for girls were provided for with the
arrival in 1727 of six Ursuline nuns, who founded the Ursuline Convent.
Equally important, however, was the importation during the following
years of young French women (called filles @ la cassette because of the
chests of clothes and linen given them as dowries by the French Govern-
ment) to supply wives for the colonists.

In 1731 the Company of the Indies relinquished its charter and Louisi-
ana once more became a province of the Crown. A governor, appointed
by the King as his representative, regulated the simple affairs of the
Colony, and in his executive capacity exercised military and administra-
tive authority, enforced by the soldiery of which he was the head. His
dictatorial power also embraced judicial and legislative activity, limited
to a great extent, however, by the fact that all ordinances and royal edicts
emanated from France. The Superior Council was reorganized to consist
of the intendant, procureur-général (King’s attorney), registrar of the
province, and six prominent citizens. In conjunction with the Governor
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and a commissaire ordonnateur (agent of the King in charge of commerce
and Crown property) the Council discharged the executive, legislative,
and judicial affairs of the Colony. Justice was administered, without trial
by jury, by inferior courts subject to the appellate jurisdiction of the
Superior Council. The Custom of Paris, a codification of ancient French
law, formed the basis of Colonial law from the beginning.

Early in its history the town took on a gay and light-hearted appear-
ance. Under the governorship of the Marquis de Vaudreuil (1743-53)
the social life of the town was modeled after Versailles, and citizens sought
to outdo each other in the splendor of their social affairs.

The capital of one third of the present area of the United States grew
slowly. At first only that manufacturing which had to do with supplying
the immediate needs of the Colony was undertaken. Sawmills were in
operation soon after the town was founded, and by 1729 brick, pottery,
and tiling were being sold in New Orleans. Shipbuilding, especially the
construction of pirogues, brigantines, and other small craft, developed as
an industry to meet the demands of growing commerce on the Mississippi.

Never fully realizing her importance as the port of the Mississippi
Valley, New Orleans lay dormant during the first half of the cighteenth
century. Trade restrictions prohibited commerce with any but the mother
country, and illegal trade with England, Spain, Mexico, Florida, and the
West Indies had to be resorted to. With merchants and officials conniving
with smugglers and pirates, smuggling grew to such an extent that in 1763
the illicit traffic was estimated to represent one sixth of the official trade
total. The bulk of cargoes, shipped in exchange for slaves and European
merchandise, consisted of lumber, pitch, tar, wax from the wax myrtle,
brick, rice, indigo, sugar cane, cotton, sassafras, and fur pelts. As settlers
crossed the Allegheny Mountains and developed the Middle West, New
Orleans began to grow as a commercial port. The extent to which the
river traffic had grown by 1750 may be seen in the frequent requests of
Colonial officials for sailors to man the boats used on the river. By 1763
exports totaled $304,000; indigo accounted for $100,000, skins and furs
$80,000, and lumber $50,000.

UNDER SPANISH RULE
By the Treaty of Fontainebleau, 1762, and the Treaty of Paris, 1763,

Louis XV ceded New Orleans, along with the portion of Louisiana lying
west of the Mississippi River, to Spain. It was not until 1764 that the
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French officials were informed of the transaction and instructed to relin-
quish the Colony. For two more years the city remained abandoned by
France and unclaimed by Spain. Indignation on the part of the citizenry
against the transfer ran high, and was expressed in open resentment
toward the Spanish commissioner, Don Antonio de Ulloa, who took
possession of the Colony in 1766.

On October 28, 1768, a mass meeting of citizens, at which Ulloa’s ex-
pulsion was demanded, was held in New Orleans. The Superior Council,
acting upon the demands of the assembled populace, issued an order ex-
pelling the Spanish commandant, who, with his household, had retired to
a ship lying at anchor in the river. During the night a band of insurgents
carrying torches and flares cut the vessel loose from its mooring, and
morning found the head of the government well on the way toward the
Gulf of Mexico. Serious consideration was given a proposal to found a re-
public with a ‘Protector’ at its head, but fear of foreign intervention acted
against the scheme.

For two years the Colony, the first in America to revolt against a
European power, enjoyed freedom from foreign rule, but on July 24, 17609,
the whole town was thrown into a tumult by news of the arrival at the
mouth of the river of twenty-four Spanish men-of-war and twenty-six
hundred soldiers under the command of Spain’s most illustrious general,
Count Alexander O’Reilly. No opposition was made upon the arrival of
the flotilla in August, and O’Reilly took formal possession on August 18,
replacing the French flag in the Place d’Armes with the flag of Spain.
Shortly afterward, twelve leaders of the October revolt were imprisoned,
six being executed for their participation in the bloodless rebellion.

Changes in government were made, and the French law was abolished
and supplanted by the law in force in other Spanish colonies. The Execu-
tive Department cdnsisted of a governor assisted by an intendant, auditor
of war, auditor of the intendancy, comptroller, and various minor officials.
Both civil and military powers were vested in the Governor, who ap-
pointed commandants in the same capacity for each parish or district.
The Superior Council of the French régime was replaced by a legislative
and quasi-administrative council called the Cabildo, which was composed
of six perpetual regidors, two alcaldes, an attorney-general syndic, and a
clerk. Its judicial function was limited to the jurisdiction of appeals from
the alcaldes courts set up in New Orleans and the chief towns of the prov-
ince. For lack of a legislative body, laws came either directly from Spain,
the Captain-General of Cuba, the Audencia Habana (Cuban administra-
tive council), or from the Governor himself, who, at the outset of his term,
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promulgated a list of laws in an inaugural address, the dando de buen
gobierno. Centralization of power in the hands of a few officials, lack of a
legislative body, and bureaucracy continued under Spanish rule to char-
acterize the government of the Colony.

O’Reilly, before his departure in 1770, relieved the commerce of the
Colony to some extent. Its trade had been confined, since Ulloa’s ad-
ministration, to six ports of Spain. Trade had also been forbidden with
any but Spanish vessels owned and commanded by the King’s subjects.
Don Luis de Unzaga, Governor in 1772, tolerantly ignored the forbidden
trade with the British, which had grown considerably, and without which
the commerce of the Province would have suffered greatly. In 1774 the
estimated value of Louisiana commerce was $600,000, of which only
$15,000 passed through legitimate Spanish channels.

With the outbreak of the American Revolution, Spanish officials be-
came involved, conniving with the revolting colonists in the war against
England. American agents were permitted to establish bases in the city,
through which they supplied the Atlantic colonies with munitions and
supplies. Most active in this work was Oliver Pollock, a merchant
granted freedom of trade in New Orleans and Louisiana in return for the
shipload of flour he had placed at O’Reilly’s disposal in 1769, when the
Spanish general was hard pressed in supplying his troops with provisions.
By advancing supplies and credit totaling $300,000 to the revolting
colonists during the Revolution, Pollock played an important part in the
success of the American cause.

Large numbers of French settlers and free Indians, who had refused to
take the oath of allegiance to England after West Florida had been ceded
to that country in 1763, moved to New Orleans or elsewhere in the vicin-
ity. Under Don Bernardo de Galvez, son of the Viceroy of Spain and
Governor of Louisiana, an expedition was permitted- to be fitted out in
New Orleans and sent against Fort Bute, an English settlement in the
Manchac country. The fort was captured, and British territory as far
north as Natchez was terrorized by the expedition.

As a result of these and other acts, Great Britain declared war against
Spain in 1779, whereupon Galvez, with an army of militia, Indians,
Negroes, and volunteers of every character, took advantage of the oppor-
tunity to make a series of successful raids against the enemy at Baton'
Rouge, Natchez, Manchac, Mobile, and Pensacola.

In 1788 the city was almost completely destroyed by a great fire.
Tapers lighted in observances of Good Friday of that year ignited the
curtains of the Nunez house on Chartres Street. Swept by a strong south
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wind, the conflagration spread through the town, consuming 856 houses
and laying waste four-fifths of the city. While New Orleans was being
rebuilt, most of the inhabitants were forced to seek refuge among the
planters along the river.

The year 1794 was notable. The first newspaper in Louisiana, Le
Moniteur de la Louisiane, appeared on the streets of New Orleans;
Etienne de Boré, a sugar-cane planter, successfully granulated sugar;
Governor Carondelet authorized construction of a canal from Bayou St.
John to the city ramparts, and the new St. Louis Church, not yet a cathe-
dral, was dedicated. A most disastrous occurrence, however, was a fire
that razed 212 of the buildings erected after the Great Fire of 1788.

UNDER THREE FLAGS

By the Treaty of San Ildefonso (1801) Louisiana was ceded to France.
The colonists were not formally notified of the transfer until the arrival
in March 1803 of Pierre Laussat, the Colonial Prefect sent by Napoleon
to take over the Colony. He was coldly received, for although New Or-
leans was preponderantly French, the townspeople were not enthusiastic
about the change. The substitution of French assignats of fluctuating
value for Spanish silver, the possibility of new laws affecting commerce,
and the revolutionary policy that had bred the revolt at Santo Domingo
were cause for alarm to a populace grown accustomed to peace under the
Spanish. Laussat was considered a dangerous revolutionnaire by the
royalists and émigrés, and so frightened were the Ursuline nuns of the
emissary of an anti-Catholic government that most of them left for
Havana in June, despite the assurance and pleadings of Laussat.

News of the sale of Louisiana to the United States (April 30, 1803)
arrived in August and placed Laussat in an embarrassing position. The
great plans he had contemplated for the Colony during his régime were
of no consequence, since his official capacity was now concerned merely
with the taking over of Louisiana from Spain and the immediate cession
of it to the United States.

The ceremony of transfer to France was fixed for November 3. By
noon that day the principal part of the population of New Orleans had
assembled in the Place d’Armes to wait in the rain while Salcedo, Gover-
nor of Louisiana, the Marquis of Casa Calvo, Spanish Commissioner, and
Laussat met in the Hoétel de Ville (Cabildo) to read the proclamation of
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transfer. Absolution from their oath of allegiance was granted to all
Spaniards not wishing to retain their citizenship, and the keys to Fort
St. Charles and Fort St. Louis were handed to Laussat on a silver plate.
The official party then made its way to the square, where the Spanish flag
was taken down and the French Tricolor raised in its stead.

Twenty days later transfer of the Colony to the United States took
place. Claiborne, Wilkinson, and Laussat met at the Cabildo, and after
conducting ceremonies similar to those of November 30 joined the crowd
assembled in the Place d’Armes. After the American troops had arrived
the ceremony of the interchange of flags was gone through. Although the
Tricolor of France descended without a hitch, the American flag stuck
and caused some difficulty in hoisting. A banquet of 450 places, started
at three o’clock in the afternoon, was followed by a dance, which ended
late the next morning.

New Orleans was as dissatisfied with the transfer to the United States
as it had been with retrocession to France. The Creole element of the
town, which outnumbered the American residents twelve to one, disliked
Claiborne as governor because he knew little concerning their country,
people, or language. He surrounded himself with Americans, and the
number of them he put in office seemed to the Orleanians to be out of all
proportion to their representation. The introduction of new customs, and
particularly the use of English as the official language, outraged the town.
Insurrectionary placards posted at night, and duels and clashes between
Orleanians and Americans in the streets and in ballrooms, added to the
bitter feeling, which culminated in a petition to Congress for admission to
the Union and the right to elect a governor.

OLD NEW ORLEANS

At this period in its history, New Orleans was still a small town extend-
ing about a mile along the turn of the river, from Fort St. Charles to Fort
St. Louis. Three suburbs skirted the fossé and the dilapidated palisades
of the original city (now the French Quarter); the Faubourg Ste. Marie on
the south in the region that is now the commercial section; the Faubourg
Trémé on the west above Rampart to the cypress swamps of Bayou St.
John; and the Faubourg Marigny on the east below Esplanade, on the
lands of Bernard de Marigny. In this entire area there were twelve to
fourteen hundred buildings, housing a population of approximately
10,000 — 4000 whites, 2500 free Negroes, and the remainder slaves.
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The Place d’Armes (Jackson Square), slightly larger then, opened on
the river. Facing the square and the Mississippi stood the most imposing
building in town, the twin-towered St. Louis Cathedral. Quite as magnifi-
cent was the Principal or Hotel de Ville (Cabildo) beside the church,
back of which stood the Calaboose or prison. Other public buildings were
the Ursuline Convent, the Custom House, two hospitals, a barracks, and
a government house.

The buildings on Levee (Decatur), Chartres, and Royal Streets were
constructed of brick, faced with lime or stucco, and had roofs of tile and
slate. Those in the rear were made of cypress with shingle roofs, and were
so combustible that an ordinance had to be passed forbidding the further
erection of timber buildings. As a precaution against flooding during
rainstorms the houses were set on pillars, leaving a kind of cellar on the
surface of the ground. Flights of stairs, vestiges of which remain to this
day in the Vieux Carré, encroached upon the bangquette, a sidewalk four or
five feet wide, constructed of bricks with a retaining wall of cypress planks.

Visitors to the city at this time were unanimous in their condemnation
of the unpaved streets which, though well laid out, were little better than
muddy canals. The city blocks were three hundred and twenty feet long;
the streets were thirty-seven feet wide and were lined with ditches to
carry off the seepage from the levee. Advantage was taken in the con-
struction of the sewerage system of the curious phenomenon of water
draining away from the river. Criss-cross ditches, when flooded by means
of sluices in the levee, carried the refuse of the town to the swamps and
Lake Pontchartrain. The system proved a failure, however, because of
the indolence of the garbage men (four carts were detailed for removing
filth from the streets), who permitted the conduits to become clogged.
As a result, the slop and garbage thrown in the gutters created a stench
that was only dispelled by flushing rains. The blocks after a hard rain
were completely surrounded by water, and as a consequence came to be
called #lets. The streets were lighted by means of lanterns hung from
hooks attached to corner buildings. They swung in the wind, were put
out by rain, and at best afforded poor light. What with the pitfalls, the
uneven banquettes, and the detours occasioned by lakes of standing water,
walking was an adventure. On more than one occasion high-born ladies
went to balls with their skirts lifted high and their party shoes and stock-
ings in their hands.

Fire-fighting must have been a thrilling and terrifying affair. The
Dépdt des Pompes (engine house) was located at the Cabildo and housed
four engines, twelve dozen buckets, twelve ladders, ten grappling irons
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and chains, ten gaffs, twelve shovels, twelve pickaxes, and ten sledge-
hammers. From twelve to twenty-two men served each machine, all
volunteers, with an additional company of ‘sappers’ whose duty it was to
tear down buildings if the fire threatened to spread. When a fire broke
out it was announced to the town by the watchman who stood on the
porch of the St. Louis Cathedral for that purpose. He rang the alarm bell
of the church and waved a flag to indicate to the people the direction of
the fire. All policemen who could be spared were obliged to aid in the
fire-fighting, as were the townspeople met on the way. A reward of fifty
dollars to the engine company first reaching the fire encouraged speed.

The police force, which was frequently reorganized in an effort to pre-
serve law and order, continued inadequate, judging from the complaints
made to the City Fathers about the numerous pigsties permitted within
the city limits, the removal of ground from places reserved for the town,
and the reckless driving of Negro cart drivers, who violated the ordinance
against standing while driving. Censure was also brought on the City
Guard when a murdered man found in the Faubourg Ste. Marie was
buried by ‘charitable persons’ after the police had left him lying in the
streets for three days. To improve the efficiency of the force in catching
desperados stalking the streets at night a sentry box was placed every
four blocks, around which watchmen, carrying swords and lances, were
to patrol in the ‘greatest silence,’ since the noise that they had hitherto
made enabled the prowlers to know of their whereabouts.

Two cotton mills and a crude sugar refinery were the main industries
of the city. Seafaring craft anchored at the levee near the Place d’Armes,
and barges and flatboats from the Mississippi Valley tied up at the Bat-
ture, ten steps from Tchoupitoulas Street. Three banks, the first of which
opened in 1805 on Royal between Conti and St. Louis Streets (now the
Patio Royal), administered to the business needs of New Orleans.

Described by travelers as a Babylon where Creoles, English, Spanish,
French, Germans, Italians, and Americans did little else than dance,
drink, and gamble, New Orleans soon gained notoriety as a ‘wide-open’
town. Every sort of entertainment was afforded the citizenry, from bear-
and bull-baiting to Voodoo rites conducted by the Negroes in Congo
Square (now Beauregard Square). In fact, such was the gaiety of New
Orleans on Sundays that horrified visitors were wont to think it a ‘con-
venient religion’ which, while it administered to the needs of the soul, took
care that it did not ‘interfere with the more important pleasure of the
body.’

The mania for dancing kept a public ball going twice a week during the
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winter, adults attending one day and children the other. Dancing lasted
from seven until ‘cock-crowing the next morning.’ Quadroon balls, at
which ladies of slight color and of extraordinary beauty entertained the
Jeunesse dorée of the town, were gay affairs compared to the sedate balls
held by the white women of society. Latin temperament ran high, and
swords or pistols were often resorted to when a question of honor arose.
Concubinage between whites and blacks was an established custom, but
New Orleans ‘society,” with its roots imbedded in European culture and
elegance, ran its course sedate and unperturbed.

In addition to these amusements the general public found entertain-
ment at the French theaters on St. Philip and St. Peter Streets. They
were open three times a week, drawing the greatest crowds on Sunday.
Their presentations, as they were announced in the newspapers, competed
for public favor with exhibitions of elephants and displays of fireworks,

AMERICANS DEVELOP THE CITY

After American annexation numerous Americans, aware of the fortunes
to be made in a city so advantageously situated, began to settle in New
Orleans. Because of the antipathy of the Creoles, who pictured all Ameri-
cans as boorish rowdies, the newcomers settled in the Faubourg Ste. Marie
on the upstream side of the town in what is now the business section of
New Orleans. Here they developed a town quite distinct from the old
New Orleans. As time passed and the city began to benefit from unre-
stricted trade with other States of the Mississippi Valley the two ele-
ments merged, and though the Creoles held themselves aloof socially,
common civic interests and the leveling effect of commercial intercourse
tended to unite the inhabitants.

New Orleans was incorporated February 17, 180s, and the city limits
defined. The municipal government consisted of a mayor, a recorder, a
treasurer, and fourteen aldermen. The latter formed a council whose func-
tion it was ‘to make and pass all by-laws and ordinances for the better
government of the affairs of the city corporation.” Free white males,
residents of New Orleans for a year, either owners of real estate of five
hundred dollars’ value or renters paying one hundred dollars a year, were
qualified to vote. James Pitot, builder of one of the first cotton presses
in New Orleans (corner of Toulouse and Burgundy Streets) succeeded
Etienne de Boré as mayor, and on March 4, 1803, the townspeople first
exercised their franchise in an election of aldermen.
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In the same year the Legislature provided for the establishment of New
Orleans’ first higher institution of learning, the College of Orleans. Schools
in the Colony had been scarce. The Ursuline nuns offered instructions to
seventy or eighty young girls and maintained a schoolhouse near the
convent where ‘female children appeared at certain hours to be gratui-
tously instructed in writing, reading, and arithmetic.” No mention is
made of similar schools for boys; they had to rely, possibly, upon private
schools such as that conducted by the Reverend Philander Chase on
Tchoupitoulas Street, or that opened at 29 Bienville Street by Francis
Hacket, teacher of English, arithmetic, geography, and history. The
College of Orleans, which was finally opened in 1811 through a govern-
ment appropriation of $15,000, had a president and four professors
and a curriculum which included Latin, Greek, English, French, Spanish,
philosophy, literature, and the sciences. From 1822 to 1825 the college
was under the direction of Joseph Lakanal, prominent for his work in
reorganizing the French school system under the Directory and Napo-
leon.

The New Orleans Library Society was incorporated April 19, 1805,
when an unlimited number of twenty-five-dollar shares were sold and the
first library in New Orleans was established. During the same year, after
a vote of the Protestants in the city favored an Episcopal clergyman, the
first Protestant church was organized.

Many improvements were made in the town during the next few years.
A waterworks carrying water from the Mississippi in wooden conduits
laid a foot and a half below the banquettes was installed by Louis Gleise;
a Negro chain gang was employed in filling in the streets; sidewalks were
built and crossing bridges constructed; and meat markets, notoriously
unclean, had their water closets torn down.

As the center of Aaron Burr’s filibustering schemes, New Orleans was
thrown into a panic in the winter of 1806 when a large flotilla with Burr
as its leader was reported descending the Mississippi to use the city as a
base in furthering his intention of separating the Western country from
the United States or, failing in that, to wrest Mexico from Spain. The
banks were to be plundered of $2,000,000 and Louisiana revolutionized.

Great efforts were made to fortify the city against what was said to be
a formidable force. The Chamber of Commerce met to consider ways and
means of defense, money was subscribed, orders given for organization
of the Battalion of Orleans, and volunteers and the militia cavalry ordered
out. In the meantime, Burr with sixty to eighty men kept ahead of
orders for his arrest until he was stopped at Natchez and held for trial, at
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news of which the hysteria in New Orleans subsided as quickly as it had
been aroused.

The first steamboat to descend the Mississippi River arrived in New
Orleans amid great enthusiasm on January 10, 1812. Propulsion by steam
solved the problem of upstream navigation, and was the greatest single
factor in the rapid growth of New Orleans to a major North American
port.

Louisiana was admitted to the Union April 30, 1812. New Orleans,
then the capital of the State, had a population of 24,552 in 1810, having
more than doubled its population in the first decade of the nineteenth
century. This increase was caused largely by the immigration of refugees
from Santo Domingo; almost six thousand arrived in two months in
1809. The city, hard pressed at first to find room for the immigrants,
absorbed them in the course of time. Gay and luxury-loving, they infused
a new spirit into the town and tended to offset the American influence
then beginning to be felt.

REDCOATS STRIKE AT THE CITY

In the last year of the War of 1812 New Orleans became the objective
of an attempted British invasion of the Mississippi Valley. Throughout
the war an attack had been anticipated, but it was not until after the
sack of Washington that the British turned their attention to the Gulf.
The Spanish port of Pensacola was used as a base, from which a campaign
was conducted against General Andrew Jackson. The Lafitte brothers,
Pierre and Jean, who had built up a lucrative privateering business at
Barataria, were invited to join forces with the British. Although the
British offered him rank as captain and protection for his buccaneering
enterprises, Jean Lafitte rejected the offer, but, feigning acceptance, sent
the letters of the English official to Governor Claiborne, along with an
offer of aid in the defense of New Orleans. The ‘hellish banditti,” with
whom Jackson was loath to associate, later acquitted themselves bravely
during the Battle of New Orleans.

Jackson and his troops arrived in New Orleans on December 2, 1814,
six days after General Sir Edward Pakenham had left Jamaica with his
fleet and the pick of Wellington’s Peninsular veterans. Immediate
preparations were made for the defense of a town which looked to the
future with ‘distrust and gloomy apprehension,’ in which banks because
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of lack of specie had suspended payment on notes for several months, and
which hoped to be saved ‘only by miracle.” The outlying forts at Chef
Menteur, the Rigolets, and along the river were inspected and recon-
ditioned; the coastal bayous were ordered to be blocked against the
British ascent.

The enemy arrived at Chandeleur Island December 10, 1814. Since
Lake Borgne was too shallow to permit the frigates to land troops, a
transfer was made to small boats. An engagement for the control of the
waterway occurred on December 14, in which the British with forty-five
open boats manned by twelve hundred men defeated five American gun-
boats detailed for scouting purposes in Lake Borgne. During the follow-
ing week, while two British officers succeeded with the help of some
Spanish fishermen in reconnoitering Bayou Bienvenue as far as the
Villeré Plantation, seven miles below New Orleans, seven thousand
troops were transferred to the mainland.

News of the defeat on Lake Borgne excited feverish activity in the
city. Jackson assumed dictatorial powers and declared martial law.
Lafitte’s men were enlisted and messengers were sent to hurry Carroll
and Thomas with their detachments of Tennessee and Mississippi vol-
unteers; Coffee and his men, who had been sent to Baton Rouge, were
ordered to advance by forced marches. Great patriotic fervor swept the
town; the Marseillaise, Vankee Doodle, and Chant du Départ rang through
the streets, as men of many nationalities — white, black, and Indian —
prepared to repulse the redcoats who were coming from no one knew
what direction.

At noon, December 23, 1814, the vanguard of the British army suc-
ceeded in advancing unseen, via Bayou Bienvenue, as far as the Villeré
Plantation, where Major Villeré and the militia under his command were
captured. While the British set up camp and brought up troops from the
fleet at anchor in Lake Borgne, General Andrew Jackson, having been
notified of the strength and position of the invaders, mobilized his men
and drew up plans for an immediate attack. The war-schooner ‘Carolina’
was to anchor off of the levee close to the enemy encampment and give the
signal for a general attack by pouring a broadside of hot shot at the
British. Coffee and his Tennesseans, who had previously marched 120
miles in two days, were to move through the cypress swamps and fall
upon the British flank and rear, while Jackson and his regulars, Plauché’s
city volunteers, who ran all the way to New Orleans from Fort St. John
(now commemorated in the Jackson Day Run), d’Aquin’s colored battal-
ion, McRea’s marines, and eighteen Choctaw Indians were to strike
along the river.



History 23

At 7:30 .M. the ‘Carolina’ sidled up to the levee and opened fire upon
the unsuspecting British as they were cooking supper and preparing their
bivouacs. Confusion reigned as the redcoats put out their fires and ran
for shelter behind a secondary levee. Simultaneously, Jackson and Coffee
advanced to the attack. In the hand-to-hand combat in the dark, in
which bayonets, tomahawks, hunting knives, and fists were used to ad-
vantage, the Tennesseans made murderous inroads on the British right
flank, although Jackson’s charge was met with stubborn resistance.
After two hours’ fighting a heavy fog terminated the battle, neither side
having gained any decisive advantage.

The American forces retreated two miles toward New Orleans during
the night and established a breastwork on an abandoned canal between
Chalmette and Rodriguez Plantations. During the following week, while
the intervening area was flooded by a break in the levee to impede an
advance by the enemy, eight batteries were erected and preparations
made for the British attack. The army under Jackson consisted of about
five thousand men made up of volunteers, free Negroes, Choctaw In-
dians, Baratarians, and volunteers from Tennessee, Kentucky, and Missis-
sippi. This motley crew, as strange a force as ever served under one
flag, was expected to withstand the assault of between eight and nine
thousand British veterans.

The British, with Pakenham now at their head, brought up more
troops and artillery. On January 1, in an effort to open breaches in the
American fortifications, twenty-four English guns began a steady fire
upon the entire extent of Jackson’s line. The Americans, with twelve
or thirteen guns, replied with enthusiasm. Round after round rattled
down the breastwork from the river to the swamp as the defenders of
the city manned their batteries in the manner that had won for Americans
the reputation of being the best artillerymen of their day. So steady
were their rounds of fire and so deadly their aim that within an hour
the fire of the enemy was broken. By three o’clock in the afternoon the
British ceased firing and abandoned their guns, conceding victory to
Jackson’s men, among whom none handled their guns better than You
and Béluche, battle-scarred members of the Barataria brigade.

Pakenham now elected to wait for reinforcements to come up from his
fleet. Jackson benefited little by the delay, for although two thousand
Kentuckians arrived, few could be put into service due to a shortage of
guns and equipment. While rumors circulated to the effect that New
Orleans was to be burned to the ground in the event of defeat, or was to
be surrendered to the British by the city officials who were unduly alarmed
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by the reputed watchword of the enemy, ‘Beauty and Booty,” prepara-
tions went ahead for a major encounter.

THE BATTLE OF NEW ORLEANS

Had there been faster means of communication in those days, news of
the signing of peace at Ghent, December 24, 1814, would have been
received to lift the siege and avert the battle of January 8. As it was,
the morning broke with the roar of cannon and the orderly advance of
the British main army. Preceded by showers of Congreve rockets, the
British, carrying scaling ladders, advanced with precision and arrogant
slowness. The main attack was directed to the American left near the
cypress swamp, where Generals Carroll, Adair, and Coffee were stationed
with their ‘dirty shirts,’ as the British called the riflemen from Kentucky
and Tennessee. Grape and canister were poured into the ranks of the
oncoming redcoats, while the backwoodsmen, unabashed by either the
elegance or the reputation of the veterans who had harassed Napoleon,
cut great swaths in the enemy line. Standing knee-deep in mud and
water, these bedraggled, tobacco-chewing mountaineers handled their
‘shootin’ irons’ with great precision and devastating efficiency. British
reserves came up to keep the line intact, but the advance was checked
short of the breastwork, the British retreating from the hail of fire that
crackled across the plain. Pakenham, in an attempt to rally his men,
was shot from his horse and carried to the rear, mortally wounded. A
second rally was effected but was completely routed, only a few valiant
British meeting death at the American breastwork. By 8:30 in the mom-
ing the enemy was entirely defeated, and retreated, leaving the field cov-
ered with dead and wounded. Thirteen of Jackson’s men were killed,
30 wounded, and 19 missing, as compared to the British casualties of
#oo killed, 1400 wounded, and 500 missing.

The Americans kept up a ceaseless artillery fire until January 17,
when the British retired to their fleet, leaving the Americans in possession.
The march of the victorious defenders into the town was a triumphant
procession. January 23 was declared a day of Thanksgiving, and an im-
pressive ceremony was given in Jackson’s honor in the square now bear-
ing his name. A huge throng gathered to watch him pass under an arch,

as girls tossed flowers in his path. A Te Deum was sung in the Cathedral,

and in the evening the city and suburbs were ‘splendidly illuminated.’
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THE TOWN BECOMES A METROPOLIS

New Orleans entered upon an era of almost unbroken tranquillity,
prosperity, and commercial expansion, which lasted until the Civil War.
The value of exports reached nearly $10,000,000 in 1815. After the
Fulton-Livingston monopoly of Mississippi steamboat traffic had been
declared null and void by the United States Supreme Court, steamboats
multiplied rapidly, and increased from 21 in 1814 to 989 in 1830. As
the steamboat became an accepted fact, trade along the entire extent
of the Mississippi increased, and New Orleans began to vie with New
York as an important port for European commerce. The levees at New
Orleans were piled high with merchandise, and thousands of dock-hands
unloaded steamboats to transfer the cargo to ships which carried the
produce of the valley to ports all over the world. Cotton, tobacco,
grain, and meat came down the river in enormous quantities, as sugar,
coffee, and European manufactures went back to the pioneer homes of
the new settlements.

As commerce grew, the city rapidly expanded. The American Quarter
came into its own and was recognized as a very definite factor in the city’s
growth. Tchoupitoulas Road, near Canal Street, was by now an important
commercial center. Under Samuel J. Peters, James H. Caldwell, and
William H. Sparks the suburbs beyond what is now Howard Avenue
were developed, and rural homes, dairies, orchards, and farms grew
closer together as the region took on an urban aspect. Below Esplanade
Avenue the Marigny Plantation was being developed as a suburb, while
beyond Rampart Street along the Bayou Road numerous homes were
being erected.

Immigration of gamblers, criminals, and riffraff from all over the
world, lured to New Orleans because of its reputation as a lawless river
town, brought on an acute crime problem, and the city’s first criminal
court was established to cope with the situation in 1817. A custom of
the time for the preservation of peace — one which lasted for many years
— was the sounding of the curfew nightly. A cannon was fired at 8 and
at g p.M. to warn those who were out without permission to return to
their homes, and sailors to return to their ships. A special pass issued by
a respected merchant or employer was required of those wishing to be
on the streets after curfew. At nine o’clock most of the taverns and shops
closed their doors, although some of the better hotels or taverns, by
virtue of their position, were not restricted by the curfew.
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In March, 1818, the first steam waterworks was completed. Located
on the levee near the French Market, it supplied water for both drink-
ing and general use. Prior to its being put into operation, most of the
drinking water taken from the Mississippi had been peddled through the
streets at a picayune (about 614 ¢) for four bucketfuls.

In 1821 the city was excited by a rumor that an expedition was being
fitted out under Dominique You with the intention of rescuing Napoleon
Bonaparte from St. Helena. Ever since Napoleon’s incarceration on the
island, certain French citizens in the city had been interested in a plan
to bring him to New Orleans. Nicholas Girod, mayor from 1812 to 1813,
offered his house at the corner of Chartres and St. Louis Streets as a
refuge for the former emperor, and legend has it that he had a boat
built and provisioned for the rescue. Three days before sailing word was
received that Napoleon had died, and the expedition was abandoned.
Legend persists in investing at least two houses on Chartres Street with
importance as being possible homes of Napoleon Bonaparte.

Because of the French-speaking population, theaters had limited their
offerings to that language. An English actor by the name of James H.
Caldwell presented, in 1820, the first English play to be staged in New
Orleans. His success was so great that in 1822 he laid the cornerstone
of the ‘American Theater’ on Camp Street between Gravier and Poydras,
the first building of any pretension to be constructed in the American
Quarter. With the opening of this theater in 1823 New Orleans was in-
troduced to illuminating gas.

Within the next few years many civic improvements took place. Two
hundred and fifty street lights were placed in the diagonals of the principal
streets in 1821. Each intersection was hung with twelve lanterns, but
although street lighting was greatly improved, the old custom of carrying
a lantern when going abroad after dark was continued until 1840. A
few streets were partly paved, Chartres Street having the distinction of
being the only street paved its full length. The first paving in the Amer-
ican Quarter was done when two squares of St. Charles Street were laid
with cobblestones and covered with fine gravel. Those streets which
were not paved had wooden gutters and sidewalks, swept and kept clean
by Negro chain gangs. Trees were planted in the Place d’Armes, along
the levee, in Congo Square, and along many of the streets. Sycamores
were the principal trees chosen.

Masked balls and street masking became features of the Mardi Gras
celebration early in Colonial times. They were continued under the
Spanish until the governors suppressed street masking because of row-
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dyism. Street masking again came into vogue about 1835 and the news-
papers described a Mardi Gras parade for the first time.

In 1831 the Pontchartrain Railroad was put into operation between
New Orleans and Milneburg, a distance of four and a half miles. A
financial success from the start, the railroad soon increased its facilities
for freight and passengers, and a harbor and a town (Milneburg) were
laid out at the lake end of the line.

The city was visited by a terrible epidemic of yellow fever and Asiatic
cholera in 1832 and 1833. In the two-year period that the epidemic
raged, approximately ten thousand people died.

The Medical College of Louisiana, the forerunner of Tulane University,
was founded in 1834, and was opened the following year with sixteen
students in attendance. The school grew slowly until it was made the
University of Louisiana by legislative act in 1847, and became Tulane
University in 1883, after a large bequest was left to it by Paul Tulane.

Il feeling between the Americans and Creoles was manifested in many
ways, more so because the Creoles outnumbered the Americans in the
City Council, and as a result received the benefit of Council enactments.
This animosity came to a climax in 1836 when a young American was
killed in a duel by a Creole. In conformance with the law, the survivor
was placed on trial, but was acquitted. The decision was taken by the
Americans as an individual insult, and justice was demanded by a mob
which surrounded the judge’s home. The State, taking heed of the
trouble in the city, withdrew the charter and issued another, with the
provision that the city be divided into three separate municipalities, to
be governed over by an autonomous board of elected aldermen, presided
over by a recorder. A fourth board, which was to constitute the City
Council, was drafted from the three boards and was presided over by
the Mayor. Only those problems which were of common interest to all
three municipalities were handled by the City Council. The first munici-
pality embraced the Creole section, the second comprised the American
or uptown section, and the third contained the remainder of what is now
New Orleans. In 1852, after sixteen years of tripartite government, the
city was reunited into a single municipality.

The nationwide panic of 1837 caused a serious disruption of business
in New Orleans and threatened to disturb the financial structure of the
city. Fourteen banks announced suspension of the payment of specie.
In an attempt to improve financial conditions, more money was put into
circulation, each municipality issuing its own money, which ranged in
denomination from twenty-five cents to four dollars. In the mad scramble
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for money, which depreciated as rapidly as it was issued, corporations,
and even individuals, issued their own money. Depreciation was so
great that money had to be carried about in large sacks. Credit was
stagnated until 1839, when prosperity returned, and the city again forged
ahead.

By 1840 New Orleans, with 102,192 inhabitants, had grown to be the
fourth largest city in the United States. Second only to New York as a
port, it was contesting with that city for first place. Commerce of that
year reached the total of approximately $200,000,000. Imports, which in
1815 had represented 50 per cent of the total commerce when New
Orleans was the only port of entry for the upper valley, declined to
334 per cent by 1840, a diminution attributable to changing trade
conditions following the construction of the Erie Canal and the building
of railroads from the Atlantic Seaboard to the Middle West. Competition
from Eastern seaports for the valley trade became noticeable after 1835,
when thousands of tons of produce were moving out of the Ohio country to
New York instead of to New Orleans. No impression was made upon the
business interests of New Orleans, however, because the continued in-
crease in the population of the Mississippi Valley caused an actual in-
crease in river shipments, notwithstanding the divergence of trade to the
East. From 1830 to 1850 railroads were regarded largely as local feeders
to river and canal, but after 1850 connections were completed between
Chicago and the Atlantic coast and the trade of the Valley began, slowly
at first, but with increasing rapidity, to leave the river route. Warning
came in 1846, when, for the first time, flour and wheat receipts at Buffalo
exceeded those at New Orleans. Little concern was felt in New Orleans
at this shift in trade routes, since cotton was becoming more and more the
chief economic reliance of the city. By 1850 it accounted for forty-five
per cent of the total commerce. Along with the shift to cotton as a
commercial staple went the trade in slaves, New Orleans becoming the
greatest slave market in the country.

Literature and the arts kept pace with economic and social develop-
ment, as New Orleans became the cultural center of the South. Opera
flourished, theaters attracted European stars, artists abounded, and bon
vivants thrived in a city which had already become famous for its fast
and loose manner of living. Gambling, horse-racing, dueling, steamboat
racing, and cock- and dog-fighting, in addition to the magnificence of
balls, receptions, and Mardi Gras, made New Orleans, which was even
then becoming a winter haven for well-to-do Northerners, a gay metrop-
olis.
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A new public-school system was put in effect in 1847, the State pro-
viding funds on the basis of educable children ranging in age from 6 to
16 years. In 1848 approximately 7000 children attended the free schools,
and by 1860 the number rose to 12,000. After 1850 the public-school
system was enlarged to a great extent through the beneficence of John
McDonogh.

Yellow fever broke out sporadically in 1852, to reach epidemic pro-
portions in the following summer. At the height of this, the worst
epidemic in the history of the city, barrels of tar were burned at the
street corners and cannon were fired to purify the atmosphere, a practice
which threw the sick into convulsions. Doctors and nurses toiled heroi-
cally, and many who might have fled from the city remained behind to
volunteer their services. Money was contributed from all parts of the
country. After ‘Black Day,” August 31, 1853, on which 230 deaths from
fever were reported, the plague began to abate. The number of deaths
from all causes between June and October is estimated to have exceeded
11,000, yellow fever accounting for 7,180.

The frequency with which yellow fever and cholera epidemics occurred
and the abnormally high death rate (said to have been 100 per cent
higher in 1849 than that of Boston, New York, Philadelphia, or Charles-
ton) gave New Orleans the reputation of being the graveyard of the
Nation. Local pride, which persisted in regarding yellow fever as a
‘strangers’ disease,” a conception curiously borne out by the fact that
very few natives were stricken by the malady (only 87 native-born
Orleanians perished in 1853), caused the citizens to minimize the extent
of the recurrent scourges, the attitude being taken that denial of its
presence was the best cure for fever. Lack of underground sewers, the
filthy condition of the streets, and pools of stagnant water, in which
mosquitoes bred freely, were contributing factors which, though offset
to some extent by quarantine regulations, continued to make yellow fever
the greatest peril to the city. Only after the true origin of the disease
was determined and efforts were made to control mosquito breeding, was
New Orleans made a healthy city.

THE FEDERALS CAPTURE THE CITY

Because it, more than any other city of the South, depended upon
slavery and the cotton crop for prosperity, New Orleans had little
choice when it became necessary to make a decision on the question of
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secession — as the cotton States went the city had to follow. The small
‘Union Party’ was silenced by the tide of circumstances. The much
larger ‘Co-operationist’ group likewise found its efforts futile after
South Carolina forced the issue. Citizens of all opinions began preparing
themselves for war after the State legislature adopted the ordinance
of secession on January 26, 1861. A week later the Custom House and
Mint in New Orleans were seized by the State militia.

For more than a year the city saw no fighting. Instead of war there
was preparation — enlisting and equipping troops for action on distant
fronts. Gold and silver disappeared, and Confederate money became the
leading currency. The price of food and clothing rose as the value of
money went down. The State had one paper issue, the city another.
First there was a lack of currency and then a flood of ‘shin-plasters’;
merchants issued their own ‘money,’ in which enterprising liquor dealers
took the lead. A joke was current that ‘you could pass the label of an
olive-oil bottle because it was greasy, smelt bad, and bore an autograph.’

As the port of the Mississippi Valley, and an important source of
supplies for the Confederacy, the city became the objective of a Federal
offensive in 1862. With the intention of cutting the Confederacy in
two by gaining control of New Orleans, a fleet of twenty-five wooden
ships and nineteen mortar schooners, under Admiral David G. Farragut,
a former citizen of New Orleans, passed through the mouth of the river
and opened fire on Forts Jackson and St. Philip below the city.

For five days and nights the unceasing bombardment continued from
the mortar schooners situated at a bend in the river two miles below the
forts. Although great damage was done to the forts, they continued
firing, and Farragut, overruling his staff, decided to attempt a passage
with his war vessels. At 2 A.M. on the morning of April 24, 1862, while
the mortar schooners poured bombs into the fortifications, seventeen
ships in three divisions began the hazardous ascent. Lack of fire-rafts,
and the ease with which the great chain stretching across the river was
broken, permitted the fleet to slip by. As the ships passed they poured
broadside after broadside into the forts, which replied ineffectually.
The Confederate boats in the river made a heroic effort to stay the ad-
vance, but the Federal armada was not to be stopped.

After passing the fortifications at Chalmette without much difficulty,
Farragut arrived at New Orleans in a pouring rain on April 25. Since
General Lovell and his 3000 men had been dispatched elsewhere, the
Federal forces had only the half-armed citizenry to fear. The city author-
ities refused to surrender, and Farragut threatened to open a bombard-
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ment, an act he was reluctant to perform. Crowds gathered in the streets
shouting that they had been betrayed, and milled about in futile rage,
committing senseless acts of violence. Cotton was tumbled out on the
levees and set on fire, and ships lying at anchor were cut loose to drift
down the river in flames.

On May 1, General Butler’s troops marched into the city and assumed
command. The municipal authorities were removed from office and
Federal officers appointed in their place. The hand of a stern ruler was
felt throughout the city. In an attempt to restrain any manifestation
of the people against the Federal occupation a woman was sentenced to
two years on Ship Island under Negro guards for laughing during the
funeral of a Federal officer, and a man was given the same punishment
for displaying a skeleton as that of a Union soldier. Willilam Mumford,
who had removed the United States flag from the Mint before the city had
been surrendered, was tried by court-martial and hanged. Under the
‘Woman’s Order’ (No. 28), any woman who might ‘by word, gesture,
or movement show contempt for any officer or soldier’ was to be treated
as a ‘woman of the town plying her vocation.” Special taxes were levied
against those who had aided the Confederacy, and soldiers were sent to
search the houses of citizens for arms; any slave offering information
against his master in this respect was freed. All persons over eighteen
years of age were required to take an oath of allegiance to the Federal
Government or surrender their property and leave the city.

Such acts, whatever may have been their justification, aroused the
resentment of the whole Confederacy and led President Davis to decree
that General Butler, should he be captured, was to be treated as an
outlaw and hanged. Popular opinion in France and England was also
affected, and pressure brought to bear in Washington was influential in
bringing about General Butler’s removal. He was succeeded by General
Banks, who was more moderate in attitude. Under his direction a
Union Government was formed for the State.

THE CITY RECONSTRUCTED

The years between 1865 and 1877 were the blackest in the history of
New Orleans. It was a period of violence, lawlessness, political agitation,
and corruption. Politics, as the order of the day, colored and shaped
every activity. Returning Confederate soldiers found Unionists in charge
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of all civic affairs. Negroes, bewildered by their new liberties and con-
stituting a threatening problem to the whites, crowded the city under the
protection of the Freedmen’'s Bureau. Northern fortune-hunters — de-
risively called ‘Carpetbaggers’ — were coming into the city daily and
were fast taking possession of commercial as well as political vantage
points. The Southerners, however, earnestly went to work to repair
their shattered fortunes and regain their former place in the community.
This they did successfully, in spite of poverty and dispossession. The
Unionists fearing a return of the Southerners to power, and the Carpet-
baggers fearing that they might be ousted, took action which resulted in
the ‘massacre’ of July 30, 1866, at the Mechanics’ Institute, in which four
white men and forty-four Negroes were killed and over one hundred and
sixty others wounded. The Reconstruction Acts and the Fifteenth
Amendment soon followed, and New Orleans became a city occupied by
Federal troops under the ruthless control of General Phil Sheridan.

City and State affairs were closely allied during the Reconstruction
Period. During the War the City Hall had been the State Capitol,
which was next moved to the Mechanics’ Institute on Dryades Street,
and then to the old St. Louis Hotel, in 1872. The Democrats managed
to retain control of the city government, although the State became Re-
publican with the election of Governor Warmoth in 1868. This control
was soon taken from them by a new city charter establishing an admin-
istrative form of government and providing for the appointment by the
Governor of all officials.

The city was slow in recovering its former commercial advantages.
Successive crop failures, as well as the increased advantage held by the
Northern railroads, kept down the volume of commerce. River trade
revived slowly but never again became what it was in ante-bellum days.
Only one railroad — the Jackson Road, afterwards the Illinois Central —
connected the city with the outside world. The extravagance of the
city and State governments caused the bonded debt of the city to pile
up rapidly. Tax collections were increasingly bad because of business
conditions. Real-estate values declined steadily, and empty stores were
to be seen in every block. Work and money were scarce, and floods of
local paper money complicated the situation. White people were com-
pelled to adjust themselves to the strange experience of living under
Negro officials and Negro police, and were also required to associate
with them on an equal footing in restaurants, railroad cars, and schools.
It cannot be said that the white population adjusted itself very grace-
fully to these conditions; it practically abandoned the public schools to
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the Negroes, education receiving a setback that required years to remedy.

The political situation went steadily from bad to worse. The Republi-
cans began fighting among themselves because Governor Warmoth proved
too moderate to please their aims. Fights, often resulting in fatalities,
occurred at every election. Administrations were installed and ousted at
the City Hall by military edict regardless of election results, while crowds
milled about in Lafayette Square. Voting was an adventure surrounded
with menacing dangers; getting the vote counted was quite as bad.
Gambling houses and low dives ran wide open on the main streets, and
to walk through the streets at night was to invite trouble. Dan Byerly,
manager of the Bulletin, met ex-Governor Warmoth on Canal Street
one day and attacked him with a cane. Warmoth clinched, and in
the resulting fight stabbed Byerly to death. Violence and robbery were
daily occurrences, and the city seemed doomed and hopeless.

The Crescent White League, an organization military in character,
was formed in June, 1874, for the defense of white rights against Negro
aggression. A call was issued for a gathering of citizens at the Clay
Statue on Canal Street on the morning of September 14, 1874, where
plans were made to take possession of the city and State governments,
thus once and for all breaking the power of the Metropolitan Police.
The crowd dispersed to reassemble in the afternoon with arms and equip-
ment at their headquarters at Camp and Poydras Streets. General
Longstreet stationed his Metropolitan Police at vantage points in Jackson
Square and around the Custom House, the main body taking position
under General Badger at the head of Canal Street. Governor Kellogg
sought safety in the Custom House, where a company of United States
soldiers was quartered.

The White League forces formed in Poydras Street, and a large body
under General Behan advanced down the levee at four o’clock. General
Badger saw them coming and opened artillery fire. Having no artillery
of their own, the White Leaguers charged and in a few minutes cleared
Canal Street of Metropolitan Police. The White Leaguers swept on
around the Custom House and drove the police back to Jackson Square.
Both sides remained armed during the night, and in the morning the
police surrendered the State House, Arsenal, and Jackson Square. The
White Leaguers suffered twenty-one killed and nineteen wounded; the
Kellogg forces, eleven killed and sixty wounded. Liberty Monument,
around which the street-cars turn at the foot of Canal Street, marks

the site of the battle and commemorates the valor of those who fought
in it.
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Victory was short-lived, and although Lieutenant-Governor Penn was
installed in the State House by jubilant citizens on the afternoon of the
fifteenth, President Grant immediately sent reinforcements and demanded
the reinstatement of Kellogg without delay. Governor McEnery promptly
complied upon his return to the city on September 17. The full fruits of
victory were not enjoyed by the White Leaguers until two years later,
when on April 24, 1877, Governor Francis T. Nicholls was given possession
of the State House (the act is said to have been the result of Louisiana’s
casting of the deciding electoral votes in Hayes’s favor), and the carpet-
bag politicians were deprived of power and removed to other fields of
action. The White League was then disbanded.

GROWTH OF THE CITY

After the Civil War the city boundaries expanded rapidly. The city
of Lafayette had been absorbed in 1852, and Algiers and Jefferson City
were annexed in 1870 as the fifth and sixth districts; two years later Car-
rollton became the seventh district, rounding out the present boundaries
of the city and parish.

The Faubourg Ste. Marie extended at first only to Delord Street
(Howard Avenue), but soon reached Felicity Road. The city of Lafayette
began at Felicity Road and extended to Toledano Street, from which
line Jefferson City extended to Upperline Street. Several plantations,
including the present Audubon Park, lay between Jefferson City and
Carrollton, which began at Lowerline Street. These boundaries included
many smaller communities such as Hurstville, Greenville, and Burthville.

The city developed much more slowly toward the lake because the
swamp had to be cleared and drained. Bayou Road led to the old French
settlements on Bayou St. John near the present head of Esplanade
Avenue. Faubourg Trémé developed back of Congo Square in the 1830’s,
and the building of the Pontchartrain Railroad in 1831 developed
Elysian Fields Avenue and Milneburg. There was also a road along
Bayou St. Jobn to Spanish Fort. In the 1840’s Common Street was the
chief road to the cemeteries and Metairie Race Track. A bridge crossed
the New Basin Canal at this point and a shell road, a favorite ‘speedway,’
led to Lake End (now West End). Until about 1858 Canal Street still
had an old plank-covered canal from Claiborne on, and was slow in de-
veloping.
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The present thickly settled Dryades Market section was a swamp
with a dirty shallow lake called Gormley’s Basin until about 1870. All
of the residential sections of the city beyond Claiborne Avenue, with
the above exceptions, were swamp tracts and dairy farms until the drain-
age system was built and their development began — about 1goo.

In 1878 the city was again visited by its ancient and devastating scourge
— yellow fever. Panic ensued as thousands of inhabitants left the city
for the Gulf Coast. The mortality rate among children was pitiable —
in one block there were 105 cases, with an average of five deaths per day.
In all more than 3800 people died.

After five years of brilliant effort, in 1879 Captain James B. Eads
succeeded in overcoming the greatest single obstacle in the commercial
development of New Orleans — shallow water at the mouth of the
Mississippi. A depth of from twenty-six to thirty feet was secured by
a system of jetties which forced the current to deepen its channels and
carry the silt out into the Gulf of Mexico. Incidentally, this was ac-
complished along lines similar to those proposed by Adrien de Pauger
more than one hundred and fifty years before.

After the jetties proved successful, railroad expansion began. Legisla-
tive franchises for railroads being obtained, new lines were constructed.
Rates favored the railroads, and the steamboat business, although active
and important up to the Spanish-American War, steadily declined. Five
large trunk lines entered New Orleans by 1880, and a new era in the com-
mercial development of the city began. The volume of railroad business
increased from 937,634 tons in 1880 to 5,500,000 tons in 1899.

In 1882 Canal Street was illuminated by electric lights. Royal
Street came next in 1884, while the system was extended to include
practically the entire city in 1886.

In 1884 and 1885 the Cotton Centennial Exposition, popularly called
the ‘World’s Fair,” was held in New Orleans on the present site of Audu-
bon Park. Hundreds of thousands of visitors were drawn to the city.
The Exposition did much to bring about a better understanding between
the North and South, and gave an added impetus to the city’s fast
recovering commerce.

In 1892 the first electric street-car was operated along St. Charles
Avenue. Within a year or so several electric lines were in service, sup-
planting the horse cars which had been used for years.

The legislature of 1868, which was made up almost entirely of carpet-
baggers, had granted a twenty-five-year charter to the Louisiana Lottery,
in exchange for a yearly payment of $40,000 to the New Orleans Charity
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Hospital. Renewal of this charter became a major political issue. It
was felt that the proposed fee of $1,000,000, to be paid to the State
annually was not sufficient for the privileges of running what was generally
conceded to be a ‘gold mine,” to which the company replied that 93 per
cent of its revenue was drawn from sources outside of Louisiana. An
article granting the company a three-year lease was put into the State
Constitution in 1892, but the lottery was definitely outlawed by both
the Federal and State Governments in 1895, after which it operated in
Honduras as the Honduras Lottery Company.

Between 18go and 1895 a semi-private organization called the Sewer-
age and Drainage Company undertook the construction and operation
of the city’s first extensive system of sewage disposal. The company went
into receivership in 1895, however, and that important phase of public
improvement lagged for several years.

DEVELOPMENT IN THE TWENTIETH CENTURY

The birth of the twentieth century marked the start of an era of
prosperity and municipal development for New Orleans. The Federal
census of 1goo disclosed a population of 287,104; one hundred years
of growth had seen the number of the city’s inhabitants increase by more
than 2800 per cent. Total commerce in 1goo was valued at $430,724,621.
Many changes were in evidence: the river passes had been brought under
control; the steamboat had yielded first place to the railroad, the bulk
of all freight now arriving in New Orleans by rail; export shipments were
carried mainly in foreign ships; and a large proportion of freight was de-
livered directly to the steamship side and reshipped without the necessity
of the old style of rehandling on the levee.

Along with commercial and industrial expansion came labor disputes
and serious strikes. In 1goz there occurred a violent dispute between
the various street-car companies operating in the city and their employees.
The trouble was brought about through the introduction of a, larger
type of car and a change in schedule which enabled the companies to
dispose of a large number of men. The street-car men, interpreting the
action as a direct violation of a previous agreement, walked out on
strike on September 27, demanding that the discharged men be returned
to their jobs, the working day be reduced to eight hours, and an hourly
wage of twenty-five cents be paid. In the fifteen-day strike that ensued,_
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public sympathy was, for the most part, on the side of the strikers.
Using buggies, wagons, automobiles, and improvised vehicles, the citi-
zens boycotted the street-cars. No violence occurred until October 8,
when the companies attempted to run four cars under police guard with
strike-breakers imported from the Middle West. Strikers attacked the
cars at Galvez and Canal Streets and quickly put them out of commis-
sion, several men being injured in the disturbance. Street-car service
was finally resumed with the work day fixed at ten hours, the hourly
wage at twenty cents, and only such men as were necessary to operate
the larger cars taken back into the company.

Another serious strike occurred in 1907, when 8occo dockworkers
walked out on a strike which began when ‘screwmen’ demanded that the
stowage of 160 bales of cotton should constitute a day’s work for which
they should be paid six dollars instead of the old pay of five dollars for
the stowage of 250 bales. Numbers of strike-breakers were imported from
outside cities. However, a few concessions were won by the strikers.

The year 1go7 saw the completion of the magnificent publicly owned
water purification and pumping plant which still serves the city. In
1908 another important step in municipal ownership was taken when
the New Orleans Public Belt Railroad was constructed. Efficient and
economical operation soon effected material reductions in former ex-
cessive switching and handling charges. Two large girls’ schools, the
Sophie B. Wright and John McDonogh High Schools, were built in 1911,
costing $195,777 and $188,037 respectively. Crowded conditions which
had prevailed for some time were greatly relieved. Warren Easton High
School for boys was completed in 1913, at a cost of $311,000.

Radical changes were made in the form of the city government in 1912.
The aldermanic system was done away with and the commission form
instituted.

A tropical hurricane of great intensity struck the city and vicinity
on September 29, 1915. The wind attained a speed of from 8o to 110
miles per hour, while 8.36 inches of rain fell within 21 hours. The waters
of Lake Pontchartrain overflowed into the city. During the succeeding
fifteen days more than twenty-two inches of rain fell, seriously handi-
capping the drainage and sewerage systems. Property damage ran into
the millions and scores were injured, but only one person was killed.

Shortly after the United States entered the World War several im-
portant military camps were established in New Orleans. The largest
of these was located on the site of the old City Park racetrack, where
thousands of soldiers were quartered and trained. Various civic organiza-
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tions led the citizenry in a patriotic and full-hearted response to the
Government’s appeal for money and military supplies. The influenza
epidemic of 1918 and 1919 was at its height when the Armistice was
signed. Thousands were stricken —at times the death toll reached
one hundred daily. :

In 1921 the New Orleans Inner-Harbor Navigation Canal, connecting
Lake Pontchartrain with the Mississippi River, was completed at a
cost approximating $20,000,000. This waterway is now an important
link in the intracoastal canal system.

HUEY P. LONG

As the center of many activities of the late Huey P. Long, former
governor (1928-1932) and United States Senator (1932-1935), New
Orleans witnessed the rise and tragic fall of perhaps its most colorful
citizen since Bernardo de Galvez. Soon after being elected governor,
he built up one of the most powerful political machines in the history
of the United States, and in the face of almost incredible obstacles was
enabled, by pure force of personality, to put over much of his somewhat
radical program. His endorsement of a candidate for local or state posi-
tions was tantamount to election, and his power over the State legisla-
ture made it possible for him to secure passage of his entire legislative
program.

His career as virtual dictator of Louisiana was marked by extremely
bitter political strife. On one occasion (August, 1934) the militia had to
be called out to prevent the seizure of the Orleans Parish registration
office by a rival faction headed by Mayor T. Semmes Walmsley, who
employed a hundred special policemen to hold his position. For weeks
the public was treated to the sight of militia and police, both heavily
armed with rifles and machine guns, swarming about the registration
office and the City Hall opposite. To enliven the opéra bouffe, radical
groups of the city staged a demonstration of unemployed in Lafayette
Square, demanding that the thousands of dollars being expended daily
in political buffoonery be used to relieve unemployment. Long was
finally victorious, and the registration office was reopened under his super-
vision.

To Long, who was assassinated in Baton Rouge September 8, 1935,
New Orleans is indebted in a large measure for its extremely modern
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Shushan Airport, extensive lake-front development, magnificent Huey
P. Long Bridge, enlarged Charity Hospital, the Louisiana State Univer-
sity Medical Center, and free school books in the public schools.

THE OLD AND THE NEW DEAL

In common with other cities throughout the country, New Orleans
suffered from the unprecedented economic depression following 1929.
Until 1933 the city and State governments struggled to relieve the suf-
fering incident to wholesale unemployment. Social and welfare agencies
were overtaxed, and the problem facing the people was greater than
the local government could meet. Upon President Franklin D. Roose-
velt’s inauguration, prompt and efficient measures were taken to relieve
the situation and various ‘New Deal’ agencies (C.W.A., ER.A.,F.ER.A,,
W.P.A,, and P.W.A.) were set up to carry on the work of relief. Among
the improvements undertaken in the city were the preservation and
restoration of some of the fine old buildings in the Vieux Carré, extension
of the lake-front development, remodeling of the French Market, ex-
tensive street paving, and beautification of parkways and parks.




GOVERNMENT

THE city of New Orleans received its first charter under the American
régime from the legislature of the Territory of Orleans, in 1805. Since
then the charter has been revised many times. The last important re-
vision was in 1912, when the system of government was changed from
the ‘aldermanic’ to the ‘commission’ form. Since the boundaries of the
city and Orleans Parish are identical there is some duplication of activity
with the various city and parish agencies, though not so much as might
be supposed. An analysis of the present city charter reveals a definite
decentralization of authority —no official has complete freedom of
action.

The city is divided into seven municipal districts and seventeen wards.
Under the present ‘commission’ plan, a mayor and four commissioners
are elected every four years, and constitute the Commission Council,
the city’s legislative body.

The five principal city departments, presided over by the Mayor and
four commissioners, at the historic City Hall, 543 St. Charles Street, are
as follows:

(1) Department of Public Affairs, presided over by the Mayor, has

charge of the city’s legal affairs, civil service, and publicity.

(2) Department of Public Finance, directed by the Commissioner of
Finance, controls receipts, expenditures, assessments, and accounts.

(3) Department of Public Safety, presided over by the Commissioner
of Public Safety, supervises the police, fire, and health departments
and has charge of municipal charity and relief agencies.

(4) Department of Public Utilities, directed by the Commissioner of
Public Utilities, supervises the franchising and control of utilities
corporations.

(5) Department of Public Property, directed by the Commissioner
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of Public Property, has charge of all public property — streets,
parks, playgrounds, buildings, etc.

In addition several major activities are handled by independent boards
and commissions such as the Sewerage and Water Board, Public Belt
Railroad Commission, Orleans Parish School Board, Board of Liquida-
tion of the City Debt, and a number of smaller commissions such as the
Parking, Playground, Public Library, City Park, etc.

The Orleans Levee Board and the Board of Commissioners of the
Port of New Orleans (Dock Board) function almost wholly within the
city, but are under complete control of the State.

The judicial department of the city is made up of:

Recorder’s (Police) Courts (four judges, appointed).

City Courts (civil cases only, four judges, elective).

Juvenile Court (one judge, elective).

Civil District Courts (Orleans Parish constitutes an
entire ‘district,” five judges, elective).

Criminal District Courts (five judges, elective).

The city seal, in much its present design, dates from February 17, 1803,
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